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The Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens (RTBG), established in 1818, is 
Tasmania’s only botanical gardens and is custodian of the state’s botanical 
collections. In addition to the management of Tasmania’s botanical collections 
and associated functions, the Gardens is responsible for the conservation and 
presentation of the significant built and cultural heritage of the site in accordance 
with the RTBG Strategic Master Plan 2009-2029 (SMP). 

As one of Australia’s premier cool climate gardens with a plant collection in 
excess of 4,000 taxa, the RTBG strives to provide a range of experiences that will 
enhance the community’s awareness and appreciation of plants and the Gardens’ 
cultural heritage. The RTBG is distinguished by a number of unique collections 
and is home to the world’s only Subantarctic Plant House showcasing the flora 
of Macquarie Island. The Tasmanian native collection is significant due to the 
unique nature of Tasmania’s flora with around 30% of species being endemic 
to the State. Complementing this is the Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre 
(TSCC), which since it was established in 2005 has become the cornerstone of the 
Botanical Gardens conservation strategy currently holding 1,956 collections of 
1,172 taxa and 47 million viable seeds.
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FOREWORD FROM THE CHAIR

The first acknowledgement I need to make is to 
the staff of the Gardens, the volunteers and the 
Friends of the Gardens, all of whom have worked 
under difficult conditions this year and who have 
achieved so much regardless. Thank you all. The 
lessee of the restaurant has adjusted menus and 
opening hours to suit visitors which has been no 
small achievement. I thank them on behalf of the 
Board for their consideration and effort.
Of course, the COVID year of 2020-21 has been 
an interesting and challenging one for the whole 
community and the Gardens have been a welcome 
place of respite against the worries for the year 
for many of our Tasmanian visitors.  In the 2018/19 
year which was pre-COVID, we had visitation of 
520,000 which included international and national 
tourists. Last year and this year, the visitation 
reached more than 425,000 which is an indication 
of the value that the local community places on 
the Gardens as a haven in times of stress.
The COVID-19 Safety Plans that were put in place 
worked well and signage and markings were well 
respected by everyone entering the Gardens.
In the annual report last year, I mentioned 
that the Board had expected a slow recovery 
period due to COVID impacts, however, after 
removing funding from the results, the Gardens 
posted a loss of only $75K in 2020-21 compared 
with $508K the previous year, a sign of good 
management and community support. 
I would like to thank Gary Davies, Director,  
Tory Ross, Business Enterprise and Marketing 
Manager, David Reid, Gardens Operations 
Manager and David Hunt, Business Services 
Manager for working so well together as a team 
to manage the changes that have been necessary 
to respond to the challenges presented by 
COVID-19, and their ongoing balance of returning 
revenue streams to the Gardens, while at the 
same time, maintaining the quality of the 
horticultural displays.

Late in the year, we had a change of Minister after 
the Tasmanian election. The former Minister, The 
Honourable Elise Archer, Minister for Heritage 
was a wonderful supporter of the Gardens, and 
we thank her for her commitment to the 
improvement of the Gardens during her tenure. 
Minster Archer was successful in gaining 
additional funding for the Gardens, in the form 
of stimulus funding of $302 000 for restorative 
work which the Garden’s Director and staff used 
wisely; managing to complete a number of 
needed improvements to areas that were in 
disrepair as well as using some of the RTBG 
donation funds for developing the new 
rainforest walkway. This will enable those visitors 
who can’t get onto the mountain or into the more 
remote parts of the state an opportunity to 
appreciate the Tasmanian flora and experience a 
boardwalk through tree ferns and waterfalls. 
Secondly, Minister Archer has provided the 
Gardens with the additional $4 million funding 
to match the $3.6 million allocated by the then 
Premier, The Honourable Will Hodgman for the 
new entrance and Visitor Centre which has been 
delayed during COVID but is well progressed 
with preparatory work behind the scenes.  
Construction is scheduled to begin in 2022.
The Board has welcomed the newly appointed 
Minister, The Honourable Jacquie Petrusma, 
Minister for Parks who has undertaken to the 
Board to conduct an independent review into 
the governance of the Gardens which operates 
as an independent statutory Authority under the 
RTBG ACT 2002. There has been some confusion 
however, around the administration of the 
Gardens and whether the staff are managed by 
the Board or by DPIPWE. The Board is mindful 
of the primary purpose outlined in the Act which 
is to be a botanical garden in the first instance and 
not a park, so we are trusting that this confusion 
will be resolved soon in the interest of good 
governance and clarity around the respective 
roles of the Board and the Department. 

On behalf of the Board of the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens  
it is my pleasure to present the annual report for 2020-21.
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DIRECTOR’S HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

The Gardens undertook some major living 
collections development throughout the year. 
One in particular worth highlighting is the work 
on the development of the Tasmanian collection, 
referred to as the Tasmanian Entry Zone, which 
commenced in September 2020. This is a 
stunning addition to our existing collections, 
and it highlights the natural beauty of the cool 
temperate rainforest with plantings of the 
key species that are iconic to these parts of 

As we learnt to live with the ever present threat 
of further disruption due to COVID-19, our  
dedicated staff undertook their work with their 
usual passion and enthusiasm and continued 
to make the Gardens a trusted destination that 
provides a welcome connection with nature.  

Despite the impacts caused by COVID-19 there 
were a number of significant achievements 
during the year. 

VISITATION NUMBERS                                                                                                                                        
This year at the Gardens has seen good successes despite the continued challenges 
due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The RTBG received a total of 427,000 visitors in 2020/21. This was very similar to 
the visitation of the previous year.  This is a great outcome as we have had limited 
tourists from other states and obviously no visitors from overseas due to COVID-19. 
This reinforces the importance of the Gardens to the local Tasmanian community.

We have farewelled the RTBG Patron, the 
outgoing Governor, Her Excellency Professor  
The Honourable Kate Warner AC and thank her 
for her support and interest in the Gardens 
during her tenure. We wish her good health and a  
happy retirement. At the same time, we welcome 
the incoming Governor, Her Excellency The 
Honourable Barbara Baker AC, who has  
accepted the invitation as the new RTBG Patron. 
I would like to thank all members of the Board for 
their contribution over the past year. They have 
given an enormous amount of their time to various 
committees and meetings around the new 
development as well as the usual Board meetings 
and responsibilities. Everyone has gone above 
and beyond what is expected of them. They are a 
wonderful addition to the Gardens and their skills 
complement well those of the Director, Gary 
Davies, who has managed the Gardens through 
this difficult year exceptionally well.

I reiterate that the Board and management 
continue to make every decision in the context 
of our three core goals:

 > The promotion of the Gardens and 
engagement of the Tasmanian community

 > The strategic management of thriving living 
collections and

 > The maintenance of a quality environment 
that provides an exemplary visitor 
experience.

In accordance with the Royal Tasmanian 
Botanical Gardens Act 2002, I submit this annual 
report on behalf of the Board.

Beth Mathison
Chair of the Board
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projects. These projects include the new Visitor 
Centre, redevelopment of the existing Visitor 
Centre and increased and improved parking and 
drop-off area around the main gate. The new 
Visitor Centre and associated works will improve 
both the visitor experience as well as enable a 
better commercial return to the RTBG.

The increased funding will allow for a major 
remodelling of the existing Visitor Centre that 
will focus on the key business streams of a 
restaurant, café and al fresco dining space, as 
well as a function and corporate meeting facility. 

Site feasibility studies for the new Visitor 
Centre were carried out by the architectural 
consultants in December 2020, along with traffic 
and parking assessments to ensure a thorough 
investigation of all possible locations had been 
executed prior to the development of further 
design proposals. A revised concept has been 
developed in response to an updated brief and 
the consultants continue to work closely with 
the RTBG project team as they progress towards 
design documentation preparation.

The Business Enterprise & Marketing functions 
of the RTBG continued to demonstrate resilience 
from the COVID-19 pandemic. Apart from 
guided tours, which will not return to pre-COVID 
levels until interstate visitors and particularly the 

Tasmania. In addition to this is the construction 
of a timber boardwalk that extends out from 
the fernery and leads the visitor to the second 
part of the development that showcases the 
Tasmanian flora in a more ornamental style. Much 
of this work was undertaken by our horticulture 
staff with the major construction tasks being 
carried out by landscape contractors.   

As part of the COVID-19 stimulus package, 
the Government allocated the RTBG $302 000 
from the Public Building Maintenance Fund for 
six essential maintenance projects. This vital 
funding has assisted the RTBG team to upgrade 
a range of facilities, and all six projects are now 
complete. These include:  WH&S Compliance 
Works, involving the demolition of a condemned 
glasshouse, installation of new nursery grow 
tunnels,  major work on the Eardley-Wilmot wall 
including brick replacement and repointing, 
replacement of the Japanese Garden fence 
along the western boundary, replacing the 
guttering on the Conservatory and repairs to the 
bulk material bays in the northern storage area.

Following the additional funding from the State 
Government of $4 million in the early part of 
the financial year added to the original $3.6 
million, the Capital Works Program has been 
re-set, according to priorities, into three distinct 
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Gaiters on and linen bags at the ready, a group 
of amateur botanists wades through thigh-high 
moss on Tasmania’s Overland Track in search 
of seeds that might just save a species. The Tasmanian Seed 

Conservation Centre-led 
expedition on Mount Pelion 

East in Cradle Mountain- 
Lake St Clair National Park.

By Kate Hennessy 
Photographs by Amanda Thomson 

HUNTERS &
COLLECTORS

Y
OU CAN FILL up there,” says our guide, 
Nic. Several members of the group are 
already crouched on the creek’s mossy 
banks to bottle its flow. “Is here OK?”  
I ask, dunking my flask into a rocky 

pool. We’re mere hours into the six-day Overland 
Track and a bout of gastro would be calamitous. 
Renowned Tasmanian landscape artist Peter 
Gouldthorpe, here to paint en plein air when the 
weather permits, answers breezily. “Oh, yes,” he 
says. “The water needs to be flowing but look”  
— he gestures all around — “everything’s flowing.”

I’m the mainlander among a group of stoic, 
convivial Tasmanians that you’d swear had met 
before. They talk in outdoorsy jargon of summits, 
cairns and cirques, and share stories of “ferocious” 
currawongs from previous trips.

“They can unbuckle simple clips.”
“What? They used to just do zips!”
“I found a passport in the bush the other day.”
Currawongs on the mainland are not so bold. 

But neither are our platypuses so big nor our 
wombats so small, and we drove the devils, 
pademelons and eastern quolls to extinction years 
ago. Tasmania can make a mainlander’s perspective 
warp and wobble, as if you slipped through the 
looking glass when you stepped off the plane.

SET NEAR THE centre of Tasmania, Cradle 
Mountain-Lake St Clair National Park is part of 
the Tasmanian Wilderness World Heritage Area. 
Covering nearly 25 per cent of the island, this 
World Heritage Area is one of just two places  
on earth that meets a staggering seven of the  
10 heritage criteria, when only one criterion is 
needed (the other being China’s Mount Taishan). 

It is palawa Country. A grievous myth exists in 
Australia and abroad that the First Nations people 
of lutruwita/Tasmania (palawa/pakana people) 
didn’t survive European invasion. “We’re still 
here,” says Theresa Sainty, a Pakana woman, 
when I call her after the walk. “It’s important  
that all people understand that we have survived. 
We are a vibrant community and a great story  
of strength, determination and the revival of 
language and of culture. That’s the story that 
needs to be told. Not just the historical picture  
of ‘what they ate’ and ‘how they lived’.”

The Tasmanian Walking Company’s guided 
trips through the tarn-speckled scenery of 
Australia’s premier alpine track would usually 
include awestruck tourists from Europe, Asia and 
the United States, plus lots of mainlanders, with 
locals comprising just two per cent of patronage. 
But times have changed — and why wouldn’t 
Tasmanians with the means tackle the Overland 
for a second time? A resplendent third?

Besides, this walk is the first of its kind. Led by 
the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens botanist 
James Wood, we are volunteers in an urgent 
seed-collecting expedition for the Tasmanian Seed 
Conservation Centre. The centre is part of the 
Millennium Seed Bank at the UK’s Royal Botanic 
Gardens, Kew, which stores billions of seeds from 
190 countries in flood-, bomb- and radiation-
proof freezers. The seed bank most people know 
of is Norway’s “doomsday” Svalbard Global Seed 
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and diversity of the ecology of the area while 
contributing to the seed collecting project 
managed by James. A further trip planned for 
January 2022 was reported as fully booked in 
July this year. The 2021 trip was captured in an 
8-page feature by Kate Hennessy ‘Hunters and 
Collectors’ that was published in The New York 
Times Style – T Magazine on 7 June 2021. 

In December 2020 we farewelled our long 
serving Horticultural Botanist, Natalie Tapson.  
Natalie dedicated over twenty years to this role 
and her knowledge, skills and commitment to 
her work that supported so many aspects of 
botanical gardens curation was acknowledged by 
staff as we wished her farewell.  

Partnerships with volunteers and Friends of the 
RTBG continue to develop positively and the 
development of the volunteer program at the 
RTBG has continued to be an area of focus. A 
highlight for the year, was the nomination of 
the Tasmanian Community Food Garden in the 
Tasmanian Community Achievement Awards, 
in which they were a finalist in the Community 
Group of the Year category. Between October 
2020 and June 2021, this group contributed over 
900 hours, which equates to approximately 40% 
of all volunteer hours contributed across the 
RTBG’s programs. The group’s work contributed 
to the 1361kg of produce donated to the charity 
Loaves and Fishes.

Ongoing partnerships with the Council of Heads 
of Australian Botanic Gardens, Botanic Gardens 
Australia and New Zealand Inc, Macquarie Point 
Development Corporation and with key industry 
bodies such as Destination Southern Tasmania, 
Tourism Tasmania and the Tourism Industry 
Council of Tasmania have continued to position 
the Gardens as a significant botanical garden 
and tourism destination, and increase our share 
of voice through partner marketing channels.

I would like to thank our patron Her Excellency 
Professor The Honourable Kate Warner AC, 
Governor of Tasmania and I take this opportunity 
to recognise the Chair of the Board Beth Mathison, 
the Board, staff, Friends of the Gardens and 
volunteers for their continued unselfish dedication 
and commitment to ensuring the Gardens continue 
to remain such an iconic place to visit.

Gary Davies 
Director

cruise industry is re-established, revenue streams 
performed well.  Although there were many 
disruptions and cancellations of events related to 
COVID-19 throughout the state, we were able to 
run a successful events program throughout the 
summer. Major concerts were enjoyed by local 
and interstate visitors and a number of smaller 
events such as Carols by Candlelight and Big 
Band Under the Stars took place to the delight 
of appreciative audiences.

2020-2021 brought with it changes to two key 
roles within the Business Enterprise Team as 
we welcomed Leesa Butler, a new Events and 
Engagement Officer in February 2021, and 
Caitlyn Tapping as the new Retail Services Officer 
in June 2021.

A total of $77 000 in donations were received for 
the year, with particularly strong interest in seat 
and tree sponsorships in the Gardens.  The RTBG 
Board approved donation funds to be used  to 
build a wooden walkway in the newly renovated 
Tasmanian Section of the Gardens feature zone 
and towards the construction costs of the three 
new grow tunnels in the Nursery

The Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre 
(Seedbank) had a very successful year with a 
total of sixty five new collections being banked, 
adding another 1.8 million seeds to the vault. 
The securing of Federal Government funding 
through a bushfire relief grant provided welcome 
support, allowing us to engage the services of 
ecological consultants to undertake additional 
collecting work. In February 2021, a long-awaited 
collecting trip on the Overland Track took place 
in partnership with the Tasmanian Walking 
Company. This expedition allowed paying 
guests to accompany James Wood, Seedbank 
Coordinator, on a different kind of walk; one 
that involved learning about the importance 
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HUNTERS &
COLLECTORS

Y
OU CAN FILL up there,” says our guide, 
Nic. Several members of the group are 
already crouched on the creek’s mossy 
banks to bottle its flow. “Is here OK?”  
I ask, dunking my flask into a rocky 

pool. We’re mere hours into the six-day Overland 
Track and a bout of gastro would be calamitous. 
Renowned Tasmanian landscape artist Peter 
Gouldthorpe, here to paint en plein air when the 
weather permits, answers breezily. “Oh, yes,” he 
says. “The water needs to be flowing but look”  
— he gestures all around — “everything’s flowing.”

I’m the mainlander among a group of stoic, 
convivial Tasmanians that you’d swear had met 
before. They talk in outdoorsy jargon of summits, 
cairns and cirques, and share stories of “ferocious” 
currawongs from previous trips.

“They can unbuckle simple clips.”
“What? They used to just do zips!”
“I found a passport in the bush the other day.”
Currawongs on the mainland are not so bold. 

But neither are our platypuses so big nor our 
wombats so small, and we drove the devils, 
pademelons and eastern quolls to extinction years 
ago. Tasmania can make a mainlander’s perspective 
warp and wobble, as if you slipped through the 
looking glass when you stepped off the plane.

SET NEAR THE centre of Tasmania, Cradle 
Mountain-Lake St Clair National Park is part of 
the Tasmanian Wilderness World Heritage Area. 
Covering nearly 25 per cent of the island, this 
World Heritage Area is one of just two places  
on earth that meets a staggering seven of the  
10 heritage criteria, when only one criterion is 
needed (the other being China’s Mount Taishan). 

It is palawa Country. A grievous myth exists in 
Australia and abroad that the First Nations people 
of lutruwita/Tasmania (palawa/pakana people) 
didn’t survive European invasion. “We’re still 
here,” says Theresa Sainty, a Pakana woman, 
when I call her after the walk. “It’s important  
that all people understand that we have survived. 
We are a vibrant community and a great story  
of strength, determination and the revival of 
language and of culture. That’s the story that 
needs to be told. Not just the historical picture  
of ‘what they ate’ and ‘how they lived’.”

The Tasmanian Walking Company’s guided 
trips through the tarn-speckled scenery of 
Australia’s premier alpine track would usually 
include awestruck tourists from Europe, Asia and 
the United States, plus lots of mainlanders, with 
locals comprising just two per cent of patronage. 
But times have changed — and why wouldn’t 
Tasmanians with the means tackle the Overland 
for a second time? A resplendent third?

Besides, this walk is the first of its kind. Led by 
the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens botanist 
James Wood, we are volunteers in an urgent 
seed-collecting expedition for the Tasmanian Seed 
Conservation Centre. The centre is part of the 
Millennium Seed Bank at the UK’s Royal Botanic 
Gardens, Kew, which stores billions of seeds from 
190 countries in flood-, bomb- and radiation-
proof freezers. The seed bank most people know 
of is Norway’s “doomsday” Svalbard Global Seed 

The 8-page story in T Australia The New York Times Style 
Magazine – featuring Seedbank’s seed collecting expeditions.
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VALUES
In achieving its vision and mission, the RTBG is 
committed to a range of values that will guide its 
operation. These values include:

 > Sustainability;

 > Pursuit of excellence;

 > Fair dealing in commercial and community 
service;

 > Social and environmental consciousness;

 > Scientific inquiry and integrity;

 > Public accessibility and responsiveness;

 > Staff involvement in planning and programs;

 > Recognition of, and assistance for, Friends, 
volunteers and supporters;

 > Administrative efficiency and accountability; 
and

 > Respect and recognition for employees and 
all other stakeholders.

VISION
Create and maintain an exceptional Garden that enriches Tasmania’s social 
and cultural life, showcases and contributes to the conservation of the flora of 
Tasmania and educates the community about the importance of plants.

MISSION
We sustainably manage the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens, conserve and 
develop our living collections and heritage, and create and deliver an exemplary 
and enlightening visitor experience and thriving organisational culture.

VISION, MISSION, VALUES AND GOALS

GOALS
 > To promote the Gardens and engage with 

the Tasmanian Community.

 > The strategic management of thriving 
living collections

 > A quality environment that provides an 
exemplary visitor experience 

 > Partnerships that deliver maximum value 
for the Gardens

 > Our people and culture deliver a quality 
visitor experience

 > A sustainable, self-supporting enterprise
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GOVERNANCE

The Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens  
(RTBG) is a State Government Statutory body 
established by the Royal Tasmanian Botanical 
Gardens Act 2002 (the Act) and managed by 
the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens Board 
(the Board). The Board is a body corporate  
with perpetual succession and a common seal.  

The seven member Board is 
appointed by, and reports 
to, the Minister for Parks. 
The Board is responsible  
for managing, conserving 
and enhancing the RTBG  
in accordance with the Act.

BOARD MEMBERS  Current Board Members as at 30 June 2021

Beth Mathison – Chair

Abigail Foley

Paul Oxley

Jason Jacobi

Therese Taylor 
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RISK MANAGEMENT
The RTBG takes a proactive approach to risk 
identification and mitigation, and has developed 
a Risk Profile and comprehensive Risk Mitigations 
Strategies associated with all aspects of operations.  
The Board has an Audit and Risk Committee to 
assist in managing risk. The RTBG reduces financial 
risk through insurance cover; brokered insurance 
policies are used for public liability, professional 
indemnity, motor vehicle and personal accident 
risks;  and the Tasmanian Risk Management Fund 
is used for staff worker’s compensation. 

MANAGING DIVERSITY
At the RTBG, we are committed to valuing and 
respecting each other as colleagues and peers. 
We value the fact that individuals bring different 
ideas, skills and backgrounds to their work in 
the organisation and we recognise that people 
have different needs and aspirations. We value 
the diverse backgrounds, skills and contributions 
of all employees and treat each other and our 
visitors with respect.

WORKPLACE HEALTH  
AND SAFETY
The RTBG is committed to providing a safe and 
healthy workplace through adherence to relevant 
legislation and the implementation and monitoring 
of appropriate work practices, and is supported 
by a DPIPWE advisor to the RTBG for Work 
Health, Safety and Wellbeing.  A WH&S 
Committee provides a representative and 
professional development opportunity for all 
staff to be actively involved in a wide range of 
Gardens-related WH&S matters.  The Committee 
meets monthly and records outcomes and makes 
recommendations to RTBG management.  It also 
implements regular WH&S site audits and 
reviews procedures and work practices.

Worker’s compensation claims are actively 
managed through DPIPWE and the Department’s 
contract rehabilitation services, which have 
provided invaluable assistance to staff with active 
worker’s compensation claims.

STAFF
RTBG staff are employed through DPIPWE under 
the State Service Act 2002. The RTBG recognises 
and values the wealth of experience and 
knowledge of our staff, which have helped to 
develop and manage these Gardens.  The RTBG 
manages its human resources in accordance with 
the State Service Act 2002, various Employment 
Awards and DPIPWE policies and guidelines, 
ensuring that staff policies and procedures are 
consistent and fair.

At 30 June 2021, the RTBG had 32 staff 
members, employed at the equivalent of 27.62 
full-time staff (FTE). The employment status of 
the staff comprised 28 permanent staff at 25.55 
FTE, 3 staff on fixed term contracts at 2.07 FTE, 
and 1 casual staff. 

ASSET MANAGEMENT
The RTBG maintains a register of all assets 
exceeding $10 000, which are recorded 
and reported in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. Property and 
infrastructure are revalued on a regular basis by 
external industry experts and reported annually 
in the financial statements on a fair value basis. 
Asset maintenance is managed in-house by the 
Facilities & Infrastructure Maintenance Unit; the 
Strategic Conservation and Asset Management 
Plan determining the priorities and nature of 
works for the maintenance.

A separate register is maintained for portable 
and attractive items costing less than $10 000, 
and inventory held for sale is recorded through 
a computerised point of sale system. Separate 
database records are also maintained for 
specialist collections including the Seedbank, 
plants, herbarium and library.  

HOW WE OPERATE
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The management of the Botanical Shop and 
the Licensee delivering the catering products 
through Succulent Restaurant and Sprout 
Takeaway also falls within the Business Enterprise 
Unit, along with the administration of the 
donations and giving program.

The Marketing area is responsible for delivering 
the content of the annual marketing plan and 
undertaking promotions, media liaison, event 
management and venue hire. It has a focus on 
facilitating and supporting revenue generating 
business units as required and an additional 
focus of developing and maintaining the RTBG 
website and social media channels.

4. BUSINESS SERVICES
This Unit is responsible for providing business 
and administrative support to the RTBG 
including: reception and primary point of contact 
for the RTBG; administrative support for the 
Executive, Senior Management and Business 
Units; budget preparation and monitoring; 
coordination of human resources, records 
management, asset management, information 
technology and financial management issues.

5.  CAPITAL WORKS  
PROJECT TEAM

The Capital Works Project is supported and 
directed by a dedicated group of staff, working 
in conjunction with project management 
personnel. This group is responsible for 
managing the capital works at the RTBG, 
including the delivery of a new Visitor Centre, 
associated roadworks and upgrade of existing 
facilities including parking, thereby delivering 
improved visitor experience and increased  
yield opportunities. 

1. GARDENS OPERATIONS
This Unit is responsible for the management of 
horticultural and botanical operations including 
the development and maintenance of the 
Gardens plant collections and displays, heritage 
landscapes including garden elements and lawns, 
waste management, student workplace training 
and event support.

The unit is also responsible for the 
implementation of minor infrastructure projects 
throughout the RTBG estate, including the day 
to day and programmed maintenance of assets 
and infrastructure under the control of the RTBG.

2.  SCIENCE AND 
CONSERVATION 

The Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre sub-
unit is responsible for the long-term conservation 
of the Tasmanian flora through collection, 
storage and germination research.

The Botanical Resources sub-unit is responsible 
for the documentation of the plant collections 
and plant health protocols and monitoring.  
Responsible for maintenance of the ancillary 
library, herbarium and archival collections and 
assistance with plant research through grants and 
conservation collections.

3.  BUSINESS ENTERPRISE  
& MARKETING

This Unit is responsible for the business 
enterprise and marketing components of the 
Gardens. It incorporates the visitor services 
functions, which includes the commercial 
partnerships with tour operators and onsite 
visitor experience. It also incorporates the 
coordination of the Gardens’ volunteers.

INTRODUCTION TO EACH BUSINESS UNIT

The Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens’ organisational structure comprises five 
separate business units. The area of responsibility for each unit is detailed below. 
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Partnerships that deliver maximum value for 
the Gardens

12 To achieve a collaborative, focused 
approach with Friends, volunteers and 
support groups

13 To deliver mutual benefits with key strategic 
partners

14 To engage the corporate sector in the 
Gardens

Our people and culture deliver a quality visitor 
experience

15 To attract, develop and retain skilled and 
appropriate staff

16 To develop Volunteer capability and their 
contribution to the Gardens

A sustainable, self-supporting enterprise

17 To maximise revenue to support Gardens’ 
development 

18 To investigate new revenue opportunities

19 To increase the contribution of philanthropy 
to the Gardens resources

20 To operate under an effective governance 
model

To promote the Gardens and engage with the 
Tasmanian Community

1 To define, prioritise and fund strategic and 
appealing projects

2 To develop strategic partnerships that 
deliver value to the Gardens.

3 To promote and engage with the Tasmanian 
community. 

The strategic management of thriving living 
collections

4 To maintain, sustain and develop the living 
collections

5 To maintain and develop the Botanical 
Estate

6 To maintain our commitment to plant 
conservation programs

A quality environment that provides an 
exemplary visitor experience

7 To improve the experience for visitors in the 
Gardens

8 To improve visitor access to the Gardens

9 To deliver high quality interpretation to 
visitors based on core values

10 To facilitate use of the Gardens for creative 
and targeted education opportunities

11 To ensure environmental sustainability of the 
Gardens

GOALS AND OBJECTIVES
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 Caption here Caption 
here Caption here 
Caption here Caption 
here

Clockwise from top left: Works on the Japanese Garden fence; groundwork around the historic administration building;  
the Seedbank team surveying; regeneration research; Olearia pinifolia pictured by the Seedbank team; seed pods of Lomatia tinctoria.
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SCIENCE AND 
CONSERVATION 
Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre 

The 2020-2021 season proved to be a very 
busy one with the seed bank gaining sixty-five 
collections, totalling 1.8 million viable seeds. 
The large mainland fires in the previous year 
stimulated several plant conservation project 
funds which the TSCC received part of via the 
Australian Seed Bank Partnership. Two of these 
projects required not only seed collection but 
impact assessments for species deemed at risk 
by the Federal Government. 

To meet the demands of the extensive field work 
required, the seed bank employed environmental 
consultancy, Enviro-dynamics to assist with the 
field assessments and seed collecting. Naturally 
much of the field work this season was focussed 
around areas that had been impacted by the fires 
in 2018-19 and 2019-20; specifically we targeted 
the Arve Valley, Marlborough Road, Gel River 
and Fingal Valley fires. 

On top of these burn zones the seedbank also 
conducted field work on Flinders Island, Ben 
Lomond, southern peaks, and the Overland 
Track. Within these fire impacts programs the 
national government set a number of key species 
to be targeted, and of the eight occurring in 
Tasmania the two that were most likely impacted 
by recent fires were Eucalyptus gunnii subsp. 
divaricata (Miena Cider Gum) and Cardamine 
tryssa. The Marlborough Road fire was found 
to have killed not only the already seriously 
threatened cider gum, but in many areas, it was 
found to have killed Eucalyptus coccifera as well. 
Enviro-dynamics were able to secure a collection 
of 29,200 seeds of Miena Cider Gum from trees 
just outside the fire and report that there has 
been good flowering this year which may offer 
better opportunities over the next two years. 
Surveying of Cardamine tryssa proved to be a 
little surprising. This plant is poorly known and 
was rediscovered in Tasmania by the Seedbank 
in 2017. By 2019 eleven populations were 
known, ten on the Central Plateau and one near 

CAPITAL WORKS PROJECT
Visitor Centre and Associated Works

Following the additional funding from the State 
Government of $4 million in the early part of  
the financial year, the project has been re-set, 
according to priorities, into three distinct 
projects. These projects include the new Visitor 
Centre, redevelopment of the existing Visitor 
Centre and increased and improved parking and 
drop-off area around the main gate. The new 
Visitor Centre and associated works will improve 
both the visitor experience as well as enable a 
better commercial return to the RTBG.

The increased funding will allow for a major 
remodelling of the existing Visitor Centre that 
will focus on the key business streams of a 
restaurant, café and al fresco dining space, as 
well as a function and corporate meeting facility. 
Due to the COVID related increase in building 
costs, materials, and related supply challenges a 
previous proposal devised in early 2020 needed 
to be revised and scaled down in response to a 
likely budget shortfall. 
 
Site feasibility studies were carried out by the 
architectural consultants in December 2020, 
along with traffic and parking assessments to 
ensure a thorough investigation of all possible 
locations had been executed prior to the 
development of further design proposals. A 
revised concept has been developed in response 
to an updated brief and the consultants continue 
to work closely with the RTBG project team as 
they progress with design documentation for 
the next phase of the project.

BUSINESS UNIT OUTCOMES 2020-2021
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a very impressive 258,000 seeds collected from 
Olearia pinifolia which dwarfs the disappointing 
300 seeds harvested in our first attempt on this 
species back in 2009. Potential future target 
species were also identified along the track and 
it is hoped that the seed bank can capitalise on 
these opportunities in the next few years with 
support of Parks and Wildlife Service (PWS) staff 
and the TWC. The next walk with the TWC is set 
for January of 2022 and was fully booked by July 
of this year.

Botanical Resources    

The collection audit was completed in the 
early part of the year with the final four of the 
Gardens’ 55 areas of the in-ground collections 
being updated in the database. There are 
over 5,000 living accessions held on the plant 
database and each accession number may have 
multiple plants assigned to it. The total number 
of plants held in the nursery, housed collections; 
such as the SubAntarctic collection and in-
ground collections is around 25,000. As part 
of this process the in-ground plant labels were 
also updated in each area as it was audited. This 
is an important process of stocktaking of the 
entire RTBG estate to ensure high standards of 
accuracy in what collections we currently hold, 
and what we historically held.

The scanning of archival and planning material 
including the collection of maps, plans and 
images was completed early in the year. This 
work was funded by the Tasmanian Government 
Stimulus package and involved the scanning 
of over 150 plans and maps that included 
plans for the Japanese Garden from 1985 
and the complete survey of the RTBG that 
was undertaken in 2006. The image collection 
included over 3,400 images, with each image 
having  the provenance information included on 
the scan. This is an important piece of work to 
carry out and complete, as much of our filing and 
information storage is being transitioned to a 
digital format.  

Our Horticultural Botanist, Natalie Tapson, 
announced her retirement in August 2020 and 
signed off as a staff member in December 2020. 
Natalie managed the Botanical Resources unit 
for over 20 years and gained a great deal of 
respect for her dedicated work in the Gardens 
during that time. The responsibilities of this 

Beaconsfield, with population sizes ranging from 
less than a dozen to a few thousand. Given these 
observations our expectation was that the plant 
was common but overlooked. Our surveying 
found that the plant seems to respond well to 
fire and several more populations were found 
near Liawenee and a collection of 41,700 seeds 
was made. However, no plants were recovered 
elsewhere in the state, an indication that this 
species could in fact be more restricted than the 
flurry of recent finds had suggested. 

The regeneration after the fires proved to 
be a golden opportunity to make good 
sized collections of what can otherwise be 
somewhat tricky herb or shrub species. Notable 
among these were three Geraniaceae species 
which totalled 110,000 seeds (harvested 
near Liawenee), 161,000 seeds of Olearia 
persoonioides (harvested from Mt Tim Shea) 
and 37,000 seeds of Lomatia tinctoria (harvested 
from the Tasmanian Land Conservancy’s Five 
Rivers Property). Our first attempts to collect 
Anemone crassifolia was made this year in 
areas consumed by the Gel River fire. The two 
collections made however were very modest and 
confirm our suspicion that this plant will require 
more manpower and time to adequately collect. 

Surveys were run this year to establish the 
distribution of the threatened alpine sedge, 
Carex cephalotes on Ben Lomond, and thus 
secure a seed collection. Three days of hunting 
in January found no other plants other than 
the four discovered two years ago. Suitable 
micro-habitat on Ben Lomond does not seem 
to be common, indicating that the sedge is 
very scarce in the National Park. A seed sample 
was subsequently taken from the two plants 
that flowered this year. A return visit later in the 
season found that the largest plant had been 
eaten down to the ground, something that had 
not been observed in the previous two years. 
The impact of this grazing is unknown.

At the end of February, the Seedbank conducted 
its first collaborative seed collecting walk on 
the Overland Track with staff and guests of the 
Tasmanian Walking Company (TWC). Despite 
a lack of preliminary surveying, the trip went 
very well with positive feedback from the 
participants. Four seed collections were made 
around the Pelion Plains/Pelion Gap area, with 
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has been transformed into something uniquely 
different to the way many of our collections are 
displayed. As mature specimens of Tree fern 
and Nothofagus were placed and planted the 
look and feel of this space rapidly took shape. 
With support from the RTBG Board, funding 
was made available to progress the construction 
of a timber boardwalk which takes the visitor 
through the cool temperate rainforest zone into 
the ornamental space. This component provides 
the opportunity to take in a new and unique 
view of the garden. Development of a suite of 
interpretational signage and plant labelling has 
been produced to provide a deeper insight into 
this fascinating collection of Tasmania’s flora. 
This major development was made possible 
by funding secured through the Stanley Smith 
Horticulture Trust (USA) and the RTBG Board.

The striking summer floral display, dominated 
by Sunflowers, provided great interest and 
photo opportunities around the conservatory 
and surrounding areas. Unfortunately one of the 
display beds at the front of the conservatory 
was  identified as carrying the fungal disease 
Sclerotinia sp. which has devastating effects on 
a large range of plants. The summer display fell 
victim to this disease and a decision was made 
to remove the soil from this bed to eradicate the 
problem, followed by backfilling with new soil.

Major lawn renovation work took place in  
March 2021 following the season of large-scale 
music events. The horticulture teams undertook 
this work in their respective areas, undertaking 
coring, fertilising, and seeding of the main  
lawn areas. 

A large garden bed, known as the Toona Bed, 
located on the southern side of the SubAntarctic 
House, received a major refurbishment in late 
Autumn 2021. This work involved the removal of 
unthrifty small tree specimens that had struggled 
to thrive due to overplanting, as well as the 
removal of mixed shrubs of low horticultural 
significance. Being a general landscape area, 
this garden bed has been replanted utilising 
a combination of bold foliaged, low and 
intermediate plants that are punctuated by the 
use of strong autumn foliage small trees.  

position are numerous and varied, and they form 
the basis of a botanical gardens’ core functions. 
The work involved in maintaining the database 
integrity and taxonomic management for the 
entire RTBG collections is just one of the many 
important roles that this position fulfills. The task 
of appointing a new Horticultural Botanist is 
ongoing and we look forward to a new member 
of staff filling this role. We thank Natalie for her 
commitment to the health and wellbeing of our 
treasured living collections. 

GARDENS OPERATIONS 
Horticulture Unit

The Gardens Operations unit undertook some 
significant collections’ development work 
throughout the year, combined with the regular 
maintenance of the RTBG’s living collections.

Work commenced on the Tasmanian Entry 
Zone in early September 2020. The hard 
construction component of this exciting new 
development took approximately two months 
to complete, followed by the refining and 
detailing component of the project, involving 
a focus on planting details, irrigation work 
and installation of containerised specimens. 
Work progressed quickly in the first weeks as 
earthworks and removal of the bitumen roadway 
created an immediate change to the landscape. 
The placement of large dolerite boulders to 
form the edges of the walkway along with the 
construction of a sandstone wall in the circular 
presentation area provided strong structure to 
support the proposed planting layout. This area 
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In a March 2021 field trip, RTBG staff, NRM 
North and volunteers from Threatened Plants 
Tasmania collected cuttings of the critically 
endangered Tetratheca gunnii to improve the 
genetic diversity of ex-situ collections of the 
species. RTBG staff members participate in the 
Technical Reference Group for the recovery 
program for this species.

In August 2020 the TSCC and RTBG Nursery 
facilitated an agreement with the Royal 
Tasmanian Botanical Gardens and the Australian 
Plants Society Tasmania (Northern Group) for a 
seed orchard trial of Viola Spp. for the Tasmanian 
Seed Conservation Centre (TSCC). This trial is 
progressing well and is being conducted at the 
APST Windsor Park Nursery near Launceston with 
supporting advice and guidance from the RTBG.

Filming by the ABC Gardening Australia crew 
continued through the latter half of 2020 with a 
major segment being filmed in late September. 
The theme was based around biosecurity and 
plant pest and disease management at RTBG. 
Chris Lang, RTBG Horticulturist, spent time with 
host Tino Carnevale to discuss these issues, and 
describe how we work to prevent the incursion 
and spread of plant pathogens in the garden. 

The RTBG Estate team provided critical support 
in the areas of lawn maintenance, green waste 
management and refuse recycling and disposal. 

As part of our ongoing commitment to local and 
national plant health, the RTBG continued its 
contribution to Plant Health Australia’s Pest and 
Disease monitoring program. This work involves 
the regular monitoring of 5 of Australia’s most 
threatening pest and diseases: Myrtle Rust, 
Brown Marmorated stink bug, Rose Mosaic Virus, 
Polyphagous Shot Hole Borer and Stigmina 
leaf spot. Monthly monitoring and reporting 
is carried out over numerous sites around the 
Gardens for 9 months of the year.

The Garden Operations unit again provided 
assistance to the Tasmanian Seed Conservation 
Centre through the summer collecting season. 
Collecting took place in areas such as  
Freycinet, Douglas Apsley National Park and  
the Central Plateau.

After waiting for suitable weather conditions 
for approximately 10 years, (and with support 
from the property owners, the Briant Family), in 
November 2020 the RTBG staff carried out a re-
introduction of Hardenbergia violacea genotypes 
to the southern population site of Pontos Hills. 
The original population from this site had been 
declared extinct 25 years ago, and the RTBG had 
been using these plants previously in the Nursery 
as a seed orchard for the TSCC. This planting 
will be monitored over the next few years to 
determine its success.

The Lily Pond
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This team has been supported by regular 
attendance of inmates through the Tasmanian 
Prison Service (TPS) but due to restructuring of 
rehabilitation programs by the TPS there was a 
dramatic reduction in the numbers of attendees 
in the 2020-21 year. This reduction resulted in 
additional pressure on this unit to carry out their 
important underpinning work.

Assets and Infrastructure unit

The Assets and Infrastructure team continued to 
provide invaluable maintenance support to all 
business across the organisation including 
general maintenance and repairs to buildings and 
equipment. Additional work included the major 
clean-up of the bulk storage area at the northern 
end of the garden, contracting and supervising of 
repair work to bitumen roadways throughout the 
garden and assisting in the execution of the 
Public Maintenance improvement works that 
were undertaken through the government’s 
Stimulus Funding program.

The funding from Treasury for these works was 
a great assistance to the Gardens and enabled 
some much-needed repairs to be carried out. 
The initial funding approved by Treasury in 
July 2020 was $302 000. This funding was fully 
expended and reconciled by the due date of 
31 March 2021 and a further $40 000 of grant 
funding was provided via DPIPWE in May 
2021. A further $40 000 of donation funds was 
approved by the Board to complete the works 
on the Eardley Willmott Wall and the installation 
of the Nursery tunnels, bringing the total 
expended to $382 000.

The full program of works included: WH&S 
Compliance Works, involving the demolition 
of a condemned glasshouse and replacement 
with new nursery grow tunnels, installation 
of a pesticide cabinet in the nursery sheds, 
installation of a flammables cabinet in the 
workshop, major work on the Eardley-Wilmot 
wall including brick replacement and repointing, 
replacement of the Japanese Garden fence 
along the western boundary, replacing the 
guttering on the Conservatory and repairs to the 
bulk material bays in the northern storage area.

Some of the other key outcomes from this unit 
include the support that was provided during 
the construction of the Tasmanian collection 
development. The Assets and Infrastructure 
unit coordinated the electrical upgrades for 

the supply of power to irrigation and pump 
systems, installation of the distribution feeds to 
the irrigation system and the fabricating of plant 
display containers and trellising.

A number of buildings were painted throughout 
the year including; the Education POD, the 
Roundhouse and the Superintendent’s Cottage 
(Administration Building). New lighting was 
installed around the conservatory, Education 
POD and the Food garden; providing a well-lit 
path for visitors to move from the main entrance 
to the Food garden area. This lighting will 
enhance the ability to hold evening events and 
functions in these key areas of the garden.

Upgrades to plant and equipment included the 
purchase of a new articulated loader which is 
used by all operational staff to lift and shift bulk 
materials and heavy items around the garden. 
This new vehicle includes improved features to 
ensure the safety and comfort for all users 

The RTBG Board approved the use of a portion 
of donations funding to repair an arch in the 
Eardley-Wilmot wall. This repair work was 
highlighted as a structural risk in a heritage 
report carried out in 2015. A section of the arch 
was dismantled and rebuilt using the RTBG store 
of convict bricks held on site. During these works 
a structural engineer, specialising in heritage 
buildings, was engaged to assess the integrity 
of the Eardley-Wilmot wall. Due to the presence 
of significant movement that has occurred in 
the lower section of the wall, a decision was 
made to undertake a thorough assessment of 
the wall to ascertain the true extent of required 
works. Following the outcome of the report, 
an engineering plan is being developed to 
undertake this important heritage conservation 
and restoration work.

Annual Report 2020/21 | RTBG | 19



20 | RTBG | Annual Report 2020/21 



Building awareness of the Gardens through the 
local community as well as creating reasons 
to visit was generated through print media, a 
state-wide television advertising campaign and 
an online presence. We continued to participate 
in Tourism Tasmania’s initiatives and other 
partnerships to leverage marketing opportunities 
and raise the profile of the Gardens.

The Gardens featured in high-profile publications, 
including a double page spread in the Weekend 
Australian on the 21st of February 2021, and an 
8-page feature by Kate Hennessy ‘Hunters and 
Collectors’ that was published in The New York 
Times Style – T Magazine on 7 June 2021. This 
article highlighted the importance of the Seed 
Collection program and was the result of our 
collaboration with Tas Walking Co (and Tourism 
Tasmania’s Visiting Journalist program), with 
James Wood leading a specialised departure of 
the Cradle Mountain Huts Walk early in 2021.  

The Gardens also participated in The Mercury’s 
Wedding special insert, continuing to build 
the profile of the destination for weddings and 
receptions.

BUSINESS ENTERPRISE & 
MARKETING
Overview

Visitation to the Gardens in 2020-2021 reached 
427,157, showing that in the absence of 
international travel, and with minimal interstate 
travel, the site has become ever more popular as 
a destination for Tasmanians.

The Business Enterprise & Marketing functions 
of the RTBG continued to demonstrate resilience 
from the COVID-19 pandemic.  Apart from 
guided tours which will not return to pre-COVID 
levels until interstate visitors and particularly the 
cruise industry is re-established, revenue streams 
performed well.  

2020-2021 brought with it changes to two key 
roles within the Business Enterprise Team as we 
welcomed a new Events and Engagement Officer 
in February 2021, and a new Retail Services 
Officer in June 2021.

Marketing and Engagement

Marketing and engagement efforts were  
re-focused to centre around the Tasmanian 
community and reinforce RTBG’s role as an 
accessible, key location that enriches Tasmania’s 
social and cultural life.

Left: feature in The Weekend Australian, February 2021 
Below: an example of our wedding advertising
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Welcome to the Gardens! Pop into the Visitor Hub located at the main gate, grab a map and explore our 14 hectares  
of Gardens with your family and friends. Or book a tour and with your personal guide learn about the stories and secrets  
behind the plants and architecture. The Botanical Shop has a great range of giftware and homewares, as well as pots,  
seeds and plants for your garden at home. Sprout Takeaway is open for coffee and light snacks, or make a booking in  
Succulent Restaurant for a delicious seasonal meal. Come and see for yourself and support the Gardens.

Gardens Open from 8am – 5pm. Entry by Donation. For general enquiries and tour bookings call 6166 0451. For bookings at Succulent Restaurant call 6171 2020.

This popular ad captured the essence of joy experienced by Tasmanians  
when the Gardens re-opened after COVID-19 lockdown 2020
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Take a tour with our passionate Gardens fans.

Book at gardens.rtbg.tas.gov.au

In September 2020 the Gardens distributed its 
first seasonal electronic direct mailout (EDM).  
The EDM’s are now a regular feature of our 
communication and engagement with our ever-
growing database of subscribers.  Social media, 
particularly Facebook, was an important tool for 
reaching our 13,600 + followers and providing 
updates on a regular basis.

Signage upgrades were implemented at the 
Sub Antarctic Plant House, Banksia Room and 
around the Visitor Centre to assist visitors with 
way finding.  Interpretation plans and material 
production options are underway for the 
upgraded Tasmanian Collection zone.

EVENTS
While bigger events remained largely on hold 
in the first quarter of the financial year, there 
was an increase in venue hire, with the Gardens 
being a popular option. The Gardens’ ability to 
allow visitors to easily socially distance on the 
site was a key benefit for venue and site hire 
during the year.  

Although COVID-19 outbreaks created some 
challenges with the delivery of the events 
calendar, the summer season was strong.

Some of the community based events held 
throughout the year included: Playgroup 
Tasmania’s Teddy Bears Hunt – a re-formatted 
COVID safe version of the Teddy Bears Picnic; 
Hobart City Carols by Candlelight by John X 
Presents, including a live stream broadcast on 
the night; Variety the Children’s Charity ‘Variety 
of Gins’ event; a revised and successful Royal 
Hobart Hospital Research Foundation’s Annual 
Easter Egg Hunt; and Hobart City Council’s 
Japanese Children’s Day, this year held over a 
longer nine day period in May 2021.  

Specialising in botanical, sustainable  
and locally produced products  

and plants grown on site Botanical Shop Open 9.30am-4.30pm

SURPRISE  
YOURSELF

with our revamped 
Botanical Shop

Above right: Carols by Candlelight by John X; above: an example of our press ads published in Spring, 2020

The Tasmanian Community Food Garden produces around 2000 kilos of fruits  

and vegetables annually, which is distributed to those in need within our community.  

Please leave our food for those who need it most.

but please don’t  

 take the food!

Annual Report 2020/21 | RTBG | 23



The Tasmanian Wine Festival received particularly 
strong patronage, with approximately 6,000 
people attending over the 4 ticketed sessions.

Three major music concerts were held with 
more than 4,000 patrons attending each 
concert.  These were held in accordance with the 
Tasmanian Public Health guidelines.

The Gatekeepers Cottage hosted the Botaniko 
Art Group and talented artists in residence for 
their exhibition ‘Frederick Mackie – Quaker 
Plantman’, in February 2021. The 2021 season 
of Comedy of Errors was the final production of 
Directions Theatre presenting Shakespeare in 
the Gardens.  We thank the team at Directions 
Theatre for bringing Shakespeare to the Gardens 
for the last 23 years; a production that was 
enjoyed by many locals and visitors alike.  

Top: A Day on the Lawn; above: Tasmanian Wine Festival
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The annual Spring Plant Sale was held in October 
2020. The sale was held as a three day event in 
order to spread the crowds and provide a safe 
and comfortable experience for attendees. This 
event was a great success, with a record amount 
of sales achieved.  

An autumn plant sale was held in the Nursery 
on 27th May with a great range of indoor and 
outdoor plant varieties for sale that had been 
grown by our Horticulture team and volunteers.   

Tours

The absence of cruise ship passengers had a 
significant impact on tour revenue for the year. 
However, this shift provided the opportunity 
for the team to focus on building relationships 
with other industry partners, and to develop 
products in new markets.  A major step forward 
for the year was the creation of a daily departure 
tour that is bookable on Trip Advisor, which has 
been taken up primarily by visiting interstate 

tourists. Visitor Services staff have provided a 
consistently engaging experience to these tour 
guests, resulting in the tour maintaining a 5-star 
excellence rating since its inception. 

Other developments this year include new 
contractual arrangements with AAT Kings  for 
visitors arriving on coaches, and the development 
of an activity for primary school children. The 
pricing of buggy tours was revised to establish 
this as a premium service and a cohort of new 
buggy drivers was recruited to better equip its 
delivery. We delivered a range of specialised tours 
to boutique travel groups including Australians 
Studying Abroad and a number of garden clubs 
travelling with Expanding Horizons.

Top: our popular annual Spring Plant Sale; below: press ads and 
facebook were used to advertise the 2020 Annual Tomato Sale.
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Our volunteer begonia group continued to trial 
new species and vet existing ones for display 
worthiness, disease resistance, longevity and 
eventual saleability.  Approximately 63 Begonia 
species and cultivars equalling approximately 800 
begonia plants were grown and displayed this 
year, and the seed of ten species were banked in 
the RTBG seed bank. 

Throughout the year, work continued on the 
implementation of the Volunteer Management 
Framework, with members of the Business 
Enterprise Team contributing at steering 
committee and reference group level. A 
significant achievement of the project this year 
was the procurement of volunteer management 
software, which was developed to cater to all 
DPIPWE programs. The software will enable 
improved administration practices and increased 
connection and opportunities for volunteers.

The Botanical Shop

Following the renovations undertaken during last 
year’s COVID-19 shutdown period, the Botanical 
Shop re-opened at the commencement of the 
new financial year with curated displays of locally 
made giftware. The shop continues to promote 
and support local artists and makers in line with 
its theme of “local, botanical and sustainable”. 

The sale of plants propagated by RTBG staff and 
volunteers is a key component of sales through the 
shop, and at the Hub located inside the main 
entrance providing valuable income for the Gardens.

Volunteers 

Following a break due to COVID-19, our 
volunteer programs were reinstated in October 
2020. The volunteer co-ordinator and volunteer 
supervisors worked together to adapt the 
operations of each volunteer activity to ensure 
a safe working environment for all volunteers. 
Volunteers were also required to complete 
COVID-19 safety training and re-register before 
returning. This has meant work has been able to 
continue across all programs with limited impact 
on volunteer numbers and work output.

A highlight for the year, was the nomination of 
the Tasmanian Community Food Garden in the 
Tasmanian Community Achievement Awards, 
in which they were a finalist in the Community 
Group of the Year category. Between October 
2020 and June 2021, this group contributed over 
900 hours, which equates to approximately 40% 
of all volunteer hours contributed across the 
RTBG’s programs. The group’s work contributed 
to the 1361kg of produce donated to the charity 
Loaves and Fishes.

Top: our volunteers received a specially designed card to show our 
appreciation for their onging work during National Volunteer Week. 
Above: members from the volunteer group.
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Donations, fundraising and philanthropy are 
an important income stream for the Gardens 
and contribute to the ongoing conservation of 
the Gardens and its programs. These funds are 
received through a variety of sources including 
direct donations at the Gardens and through the 
website, bequests from deceased estates, tree 
sponsorship and seat sponsorship.

2020 – 2021 SPONSORS (OVER $100)
Stuart Clutterbuck $5000 General Donation
Robin Bowerman $5000 Seat Sponsorship
Don Hempton $5000 Seat Sponsorship
Rodney Williams $4750 Seat & Tree Sponsorship
Josette Wunder $2790 General Donation
Marinelle Basson $2250 General Donation
Diane Matthews $1550 Tree Sponsorship
Alison Allfree $1000 General Donation
Tony James $1000 Tree Sponsorship
Robbie Gillespie $500 Seat Sponsorship
Julie Crowley $500 General Donation
Anne Geard $250 Tree Sponsorship
Wendy Whitham $250 General Donation
Lyndal Ayers $250 Tree Sponsorship
Helena Addison $250 Tree Sponsorship
Kathy Mason $250 Tree Sponsorship
Charlene White $250 Tree Sponsorship
Carlton Cox $250 General Donation
Friends of Grant Family $240 General Donation
Rolf Goebbels $150 General Donation
Gary & Sue Guiver $150 General Donation

The total amount raised through donations and 
giving in 2020-21 was $77 213. These donations 
were used to build a wooden walkway through 
the newly renovated Tasmanian Section of the 
Gardens and toward the construction costs of 
three new growing tunnels in the Nursery, which 
are due to be completed by the end of 2021.

GIVING PROGRAM

Donate to The Gardens and make a lasting difference

YOUR GIFTHELPS US TO GROW

OR DONATE WHEN  YOU VISIT US NEXT-  Contribute with cash next time you visit us, look out  
for our nifty Donation Boxes or chat with our volunteers 
at The Hub.

-  Make use of our secure new Tap-And-Go donation facility just inside the main entrance at The Gardens. -  Purchase our recent historical publication ‘The Gardens’, 
buy some RTBG honey (we were the first in Australia to 
produce honey!) or some limited edition botanical gin, 
distilled with ingredients from the Gardens.

SAY HELLO
Oct – Apr Opening Hours: 8.00am – 6.30pmMay – Sept Opening Hours 8.00am – 5.00pmVisitor Enquiries: 03 6166 0451 Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens Queens Domain Hobart

For more information about what  we can achieve with your generous  donation, visit the Visitor Hub,  the Botanical Shop or visit: 
rtbg.tas.gov.au
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Public Donations

The RTBG recognises the importance of access 
to the Gardens to the Tasmanian community. 
The degree of ongoing community support is 
evident in the level of donations made at various 
collection points located throughout the RTBG 
and through sponsorship programs for memorial 
seats and trees.

Project Partnerships

In addition to the many anonymous public donors 
the RTBG also wishes to thank the following 
organisations and individuals for their support 
and collaboration with the following projects:

The Friends of the Royal Tasmanian Botanical 
Gardens 

The Friends of the Royal Tasmanian Botanical 
Gardens are a membership group who advocate 
for and undertake activities that support the 
operations of the Gardens.  Activities of note 
in 2020/21 include; holding an exhibition 
“Collectors, Collecting and Collections” in the 
Gatekeepers Cottage, following the success 
of the installation at the Kingston Library; 
sponsorship of the bronze Fagus leaves at the 
entrance to the Tasmanian Entry Zone, which 
were designed and produced by local artist 
Jake Mikoda; and development of a ‘Seek and 
Find’ activity card that is distributed to young 
visitors at the main gate.  The Friends regularly 
undertake tours for specific special events, as 
well as publish a quarterly magazine, Fagus.  

We appreciate and gratefully acknowledge the 
support of this dedicated group.

Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre (TSCC) 

Royal Botanic Gardens Kew,  
Australian Seed Bank Partnership, 
Tasmanian Herbarium (TMAG), DPIPWE

The RTBG wishes to recognise and thank 
our Joint Partners in this major conservation 
initiative. In particular, the RTBG recognises 
the contribution of RBG Kew, not just for the 
provision of initial funding for the project, but 
also for their ongoing invaluable technical and 
scientific support at every stage of the project. 
The development of the TSCC provides a critical 
“insurance policy” for Tasmanian flora into the 
future. The TSCC is especially grateful for the 
dedicated work of the seedbank volunteers. 

The Tasmanian Orchid Conservation and 
Research Program (TOCRP)

The Tasmanian Orchid Conservation and 
Research Program (TOCRP) aims to improve the 
conservation status of Tasmanian threatened 
orchids through the implementation of ex 
situ recovery actions identified in the Federal 
Tasmanian Threatened Orchid Flora Recovery 
Plan (TTOFRP).

Orchid specialists Dr Nigel Swarts and Dr Magali 
Wright dedicate their time to co-manage the 
Orchid program through self-generated grants 
and sponsorship with the support of a dedicated 
team of volunteers. TOCRP is grateful to 
Threatened Plants Tasmania for their ongoing 
support.

Neutrog Australia Pty Ltd

The RTBG would like to acknowledge the 
ongoing support provided by Neutrog Australia 
Pty Ltd. This partnership provides great benefits 
to the Garden Operations team through the 
generous supply of high quality plant nutrition 
products which are used throughout the garden.

OUR SUPPORTERS

The RTBG would like to acknowledge the generous assistance of government, 
industry and community partners who continue to provide invaluable financial 
and non-financial support to the Gardens.
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Australian Plants Society

The RTBG would like to acknowledge the 
Australian Plants Society Tasmanian Branch for 
the support they have provided to the TSCC 
field collecting programs as well as the new 
partnership trialling seed orchard production at 
the Windsor Park Nursery near Launceston. The 
initial trial, set up in 2020, is progressing well 
with the first harvest expected in Spring

Australian Antarctic Division

The RTBG would like to acknowledge the 
Australian Antarctic Division and the Tasmanian 
Parks and Wildlife Service for their on-going 
support of the ex-situ conservation collection 
and seed orchard of the Macquarie Island 
Cushion Plant (Azorella macquariensis). Ten years 
on, the collection, based on Macquarie Island, 
continues to thrive and is testament to the 
sustained cooperation in conserving this critically 
endangered species.

Department of Justice - Corrective Services 
Labour and Training Program

The long-standing Corrective Services labour 
and training partnership program between the 
RTBG and the Department of Justice continued 
throughout the year. This program provides 
valuable underpinning horticultural maintenance 
support work to the Gardens, while providing 
important educational and re-socialisation 
opportunities for minimum security inmates. Due 
to the restrictions and challenges presented by 
COVID-19, the program has been impacted this 
year by a reduction in the numbers of personnel 
provided. We look forward to working with the 
Department of Justice in the rebuilding of this 
program in future years.

Azorella macquariensis (Macquarie Cushion) only grows on Macquarie Island. 

In 2008, Dr Dana Bergstrom from the Australian Antarctic Division (AAD) 

noticed large areas of cushion plants dying across the Island. Research 

continues to be conducted into the cause of the dieback, and at this stage 

it appears to be multifactorial. A contributing factor may be a slight shift in 

climatic conditions occurring on Macquarie Island.

Growing Azorella macquariensis is difficult in Tasmania and requires specialised 

environmental conditions to maintain the species. Therefore a decision was made 

to develop a potted conservation collection on Macquarie Island itself isolated 

from the infected wild population.

In 2010 a trial collection was set up by RTBG staff. All nine plants were potted 

into long plastic pipes to provide perfect drainage and protection from 

potential soil pathogens. An automated watering system was also installed,  

and the plants have settled well into their environment (see images).

C O N S E R V AT I O N  O F  T H E  E N D A N G E R E D 

M A C Q U A R I E  C U S H I O N  P L A N T

Top: Azorella plant 8 photo taken Summer 2010    

Bottom: Azorella plant 8 photo taken Summer 2017

Images: Tasmanian Parks and Wildlife Service

The RTBG acknowledges the assistance of the Mohammed bin Zayed Species 

Conservation Fund, The Foundation for National Parks and Wildlife, and concerned 

individuals in providing some financial support in setting up this program.

RTBG also worked to secure a large Macquarie 

Cushion seed collection, now stored at the 

Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre, as 

insurance against the extinction of this species. 

Images clockwise: Horticultural Botanist Natalie Tapson developing the potted conservation collection and harvesting seeds on Macquarie Island; 

dieback-affected Azorella maquariensis. Credit: N.Tapson & A.Terauds

A new interpretation poster in the Sub 
Antarctic Plant House helps inform people 
about Azorella on Macquarie Island.
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EXECUTIVE

Director
Gary Davies

BUSINESS SERVICES

Manager Business Services
David Hunt

Business Services Assistant
Sharron Paul

BUSINESS ENTERPRISE  
AND MARKETING

Business Enterprise and 
Marketing Manager
Tory Ross

Events and Engagement 
Officer
Leesa Butler

Visitor Experience Coordinator
Esther Beecroft

Visitor Services Officers
Les Winspear
Kate Crossin  
Catherine Chapman
Debbie Hinchen (Casual)

Retail Services Officer
Caitlyn Tapping

GARDENS OPERATIONS

Horticultural Coordinator
David Reid

Botanical Estate

Team Leaders
David Marrison (Northern Team)
Anne Griffin (Eastern Team)
James Young (Estate)

Curators
Chris Lang
Lorraine Perrins

Horticulturists

David Eaves
Adam Lancaster 
Kenneth Littler
Megan Marrison
Jeremy Patterson
Kathryn Saunders
Margot White

Horticultural Assistant
Paul Hohler

Nursery Horticultural 
Assistant
Liam White

Estate Assistant 
Jeremy Robinson

STAFF LIST AS AT 30 JUNE 2021
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Assets and Infrastructure

Team Leader
Ben Jager

Utility Officer
Graeme Styles

Cleaners
Antony Moroni
Stephen Ross

Tasmanian Seed Conservation Centre

Seedbank Coordinator
James Wood

Absent: Gary Davies, Tory Ross, Les Winspear, Debbie Hinchen, Chris Lang,  
Kate Crossin, Adam Lancaster, Kenneth Littler, Jeremy Robinson
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

 

 

 

 

  1 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Members of Parliament 

Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 
I have audited the financial statements of the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens (the 
Gardens), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021 and 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, other explanatory notes and the statement of certification by the Director and Chair 
of the Board (the Director and the Board). 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements:  

(a) present fairly, in all material respects, the Gardens’ financial position as at 30 June 
2021 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 

(b) are in accordance with the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens Act 2002, the 
Financial Management Act 2016 and Australian Accounting Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent of the Gardens in 
accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial 
statements in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 

The Audit Act 2008 further promotes the independence of the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General is the auditor of all Tasmanian public sector entities and can only be removed by 
Parliament.  The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate 
and is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be 
exercised. The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all 
documents and property and can report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor-
General’s opinion are significant. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion.  
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Notes

  2 

My audit is not designed to provide assurance on the accuracy and appropriateness of the 
budget information in the Garden’s financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgement, were of most 
significance in my audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters 
were addressed in the context of my audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming my opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

Why this matter is considered to be one of 
the most significant matters in the audit 

Audit procedures to address the matter 
included 

Valuation of property and Infrastructure 
Refer to note 6.3 & 6.5 

At 30 June 2021, the Gardens had land, 
buildings and infrastructure totalling 
$15.92m recognised at fair value.  

Independent valuations are carried on a 
regular basis and between valuations, 
carrying values are updated using 
independently provided indices. For the 
year ended 30 June 2021, indices have been 
used. 

In determining fair values, the Gardens 
utilises a valuation model appropriate to the 
type of assets involved. This requires 
significant judgement, with the different 
valuation models highly dependent upon a 
range of inputs, assumptions and estimates. 
For these reasons, the valuation of these 
assets is an area requiring particular audit 
attention. 

 Evaluating the appropriateness of the 
valuation methodology applied to 
determine fair values. 

 Assessing the scope, expertise and 
independence of experts engaged to 
assist in the indexation of land and 
buildings. 

 Testing, on a sample basis, the 
mathematical accuracy of the 
indexation calculations. 

 Assessing the adequacy of disclosure 
made in the financial report, including 
those regarding key assumptions used. 

Responsibilities of the Director and the Board for the Financial Statements 
The Director and the Board are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the financial 
reporting requirements of and the financial reporting requirements of Section 42 (1) of the 
Financial Management Act 2016.  This responsibility includes such internal control as 
determined necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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Notes

AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT)

  3 

In preparing the financial statements, the Director and the Board are responsible for 
assessing the Garden’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Gardens is to be dissolved by an Act of Parliament, or the Director and the Board intends to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  I also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Garden’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Director and the Board.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Director’s and the Board’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Garden’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusion is based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Gardens to cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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  4 

I communicate with the Director and the Board regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

From the matters communicated with the Director and Board, I determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period 
and are therefore the key audit matters. I describe these matters in my auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, I determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report 
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh 
the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

 
 

Stephen Morrison 

Assistant Auditor General - Audit 
Delegate of the Auditor-General 
Tasmanian Audit Office 

 

24 September 2021 
Hobart  
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STATEMENT OF CERTIFICATION

Annual Report Financials 2020/21 | RTBG | 37



STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

This Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 
Explanations of material variances between budget and actual outcomes are provided in Note 1 of the accompanying notes. 

Notes 2021
Budget

$

2021
Actual

 $

2020
Actual

$

Income from continuing operations

Revenue from Government

Appropriation revenue - operating 3.1  2 988 000 3 386 000 2 876 000

Appropriation revenue - capital 3.1 4 000 000 4 000 000 2 600 000

Grants 3.2 344 000 501 299 191 905

Sales of goods and services 3.3 356 000 580 191 539 598

Interest 3.4 35 000 31 060 75 654

Rents received 3.5 65 000 64 203 106 474

Contributions received 3.6 … 46 932 …

Other revenue 3.7 11 000 3 735  16 183

Total revenue from continuing operations 7 799 000 8 613 420 6 405 814

Net gain/(loss) on nonfinancial assets 4.1 (13 000) (12 791) …

Other gain/(loss) on change in estimate of nonfinan-
cial assets 4.2 … (4 717) (52 500)

Total income from continuing operations 7 786 000 8 595 912 6 353 314

Expenses from continuing operations

Employee benefits 5.1 2 871 000 2 566 493 2 712 843

Depreciation and amortisation 5.2 461 000 505 468 451 231

Cost of goods sold 129 000 191 175 179 210

Supplies and consumables 5.3 1 296 000 1 327 082 885 660

Other expenses 5.4 35 000 80 847 32 454

Total expenses from continuing operations 4 792 000 4 671 065 4 261 398

Net result from continuing operations 2 994 000 3 924 847 2 091 916

Net result 2 994 000 3 924 847 2 091 916
Other comprehensive income

Changes in property, plant and equipment revalua-
tion surplus 9.1 … 788 897 438 517

Total other comprehensive income … 788 897 438 517

Comprehensive result 2 994 000 4 713 744 2 530 433

ROYAL TASMANIAN BOTANICAL GARDENS
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Notes 2021
Budget

$

2021
Actual

 $

2020
Actual

$

Assets

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 10.1 2 538 000 7 883 501 3 710 673

Receivables 6.1 10 000 76 418 56 716

Other financial assets 54 000 … …

Non-financial assets

Inventories 6.2 74 000 89 974 105 873

Property, plant and equipment 6.3 15 601 000 12 196 415 11 553 155

Right-of-use assets 6.4 … 70 703 3 071

Infrastructure 6.5 4 515 000 4 374 442 4 462 200

Other assets 6.6 28 000 35 508 36 948

Total assets 22 820 000 24 726 961 19 928 636

Liabilities

Payables 7.1 89 000 104 943 37 868

Lease liabilities 7.2 … 70 960 3 178

Employee benefit liabilities 7.3 739 000 728 998 789 277

Other liabilities 7.4 20 000 103 709 93 706

Total liabilities 848 000 1 008 610 924 029

Net assets 21 972 000 23 718 351 19 004 607

Equity

Reserves 9.1 16 267 000 17 494 420 16 705 523

Accumulated funds 5 705 000 6 223 931 2 299 084

Total equity 21 972 000 23 718 351 19 004 607

This Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit. 
Explanations of material variances between budget and actual outcomes are provided in Note 1 of the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

ROYAL TASMANIAN BOTANICAL GARDENS
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Notes 2021
Budget

$

2021
Actual

 $

2020
Actual

$

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash inflows

Appropriation receipts – operating 2 988 000 3 386 000 2 876 000

Grants 344 000 445 922 276 767

Sales of goods and services 356 000 577 616 548 495

GST receipts 166 000 156 111 109 031

Interest received 35 000 26 838 74 420

Rents received 65 000 116 677 84 096

Other cash receipts 11 000 3 735 16 183

Total cash inflows 3 965 000 4 712 899 3 984 992

Cash outflows

Employee benefits (2 871 000) (2 626 771) (2 675 082)

GST payments (166 000) (156 111) (109 031)

Cost of goods sold (129 000) (175 276) (205 656)

Supplies and consumables (1 450 000) (1 282 306) (889 800)

Other cash payments (35 000) (33 915) (32 454)

Total cash outflows (4 651 000) (4 274 379) (3 912 023)

Net cash from / (used by) operating activities 10.2 (686 000) 438 520 72 969

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash inflows

Appropriation receipts - capital 4 000 000 4 000 000 2 600 000

Proceeds from the disposal of non-financial assets … 18 182 …

Total cash inflows 4 000 000 4 018 182 2 600 000

Cash outflows

Payments for acquisition of non-financial assets (4 493 000) (280 696) (307 791)

Total cash outflows (4 493 000) (280 696) (307 791)

Net cash from / (used by) investing activities (493 000) 3 737 486 2 292 209

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

ROYAL TASMANIAN BOTANICAL GARDENS
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Notes 2021
Budget

$

2021
Actual

 $

2020
Actual

$

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash outflows

Repayment of lease liabilities (excluding interest) … (3 178) (4 177)

Total cash outflows … (3 178) (4 177)

Net Cash from / (used by) financing activities (493 000) (3 178) (4 177)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equiv-
alents held (1 179 000) 4 172 828 2 361 001

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the reporting period 3 717 000 3 710 673 1 349 672

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
reporting period 10.1 2 538 000 7 883 501 3 710 673

This Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
Budget information refers to original estimates and has not been subject to audit.
Explanations of material variances between budget and actual outcomes are provided in Note 1 of the accompanying notes.
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This Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Notes Accumulated 
Funds

$

Reserves 

$

Total Equity
 
$

Balance as at 1 July 2020 2 299 084 16 705 523 19 004 607

Net result 3 924 847 … 3 924 847

Other comprehensive income 9.1 … 788 897 788 897

Balance as at 30 June 2021 6 223 931 17 494 420 23 718 351

Balance as at 1 July 2019 207 358 16 267 006 16 474 364

Adjustment due to change in accounting policy 13.4 (190) … (190)

Restated balance as at 1 July 2019 207 168 16 267 006 16 474 174

Net result 2 091 916 … 2 091 916

Other comprehensive income 9.1 … 438 517 438 517

Balance as at 30 June 2020 2 299 084 16 705 523 19 004 607

ROYAL TASMANIAN BOTANICAL GARDENS
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: EXPLANATIONS OF MATERIAL VARIANCES BETWEEN BUDGET AND ACTUAL OUTCOMES

1.1 Statement of Comprehensive Income

Statement of Comprehensive Income variances are considered material where the variance exceeds 10 per cent of the 
original budget estimate and $70 000. Budget information refers to original estimates as disclosed in the 2020-21 Budget 
Papers and is not subject to audit.

Notes Budget
$

Actual
 $

Variance
$

Variance
%

Income from continuing operations

Appropriation revenue – operating (a) 2 988 000 3 386 000 398 000 13

Grants (b) 344 000 501 299 157 299 46

Sales of goods and services (c) 356 000 580 191 224 191 63

Expenses from continuing operations

Employee benefits (‘d) 2 871 000 2 566 493 (304 507) (11)

Other comprehensive income

Changes in property, plant and equipment 
revaluation surplus (e) … 788 897 788 897 100

Notes to Statement of Comprehensive Income variances

(a) The increase in appropriation revenue  operating is primarily due to additional funding received to mitigate the 
continued impact of COVID-19.

(b) The increase in grants income is primarily due to increased private sector funding for conservation activities and 
additional funding received under the Government’s Public Building Maintenance Program.

(‘c) The increase in sales of goods and services reflects sales driven by stronger than expected local visitor numbers 
during 2020-21.

(d) The decrease in employee benefits is primarily due to prolonged vacancies as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and the capitalising of salaries relating to the New Visitor Centre project.

(e) The increase in the asset revaluation reserve reflects the application of indexation to the land, buildings and 
infrastructure asset categories in 2020-21.
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1.2 Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Financial Position variances are considered material where the variance exceeds 10 per cent of the original 
budget estimate and $70 000. Budget information refers to original estimates as disclosed in the 2020-21 Budget Papers 
and is not subject to audit.

Notes Budget
$

Actual
 $

Variance
$

Variance
%

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents (a) 2 538 000 7 883 501 5 345 501 211

Property, plant and equipment (b) 15 601 000 12 196 415 (3 404 585) (22)

Right-of-use assets (c) … 70 703 70 703 100

Liabilities

Lease liabilities (c) … 70 960 (70 960) (100)

Other liabilities (‘d) 20 000 103 708 (83 708) (419)

Notes to Statement of Financial Position variances

(a) The increase in cash and cash equivalents, is primarily due to unspent funding received in relation to the New Visitor 
Centre project, which has experienced delays in the commencement of construction.

(b) The decrease in property, plant and equipment, is primarily due to delays in the commencement of construction of 
the New Visitor Centre, partially offset by the application of indexation to the land and buildings asset categories in 
2020-21.

(c) The increase in right-of-use assets, and lease liabilities, is due to the budget not reflecting a new equipment lease 
entered into during 2020-21. 

(d) The increase in other liabilities is primarily due to grant funding received in the current year, recognised as revenue 
received in advance due to the associated performance obligations not being met at 30 June 2021.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT)

1.3 Statement of Cash Flows 

(b) Statement of Cash Flows variances are considered material where the variance exceeds 10 per cent of the original bud-
get estimate and $70 000. Budget information refers to original estimates as disclosed in the 2020 - 21 Budget Papers 
and is not subject to audit.

Notes Budget
$

Actual
 $

Variance
$

Variance
% 

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash inflows

Appropriation revenue – operating (a) 2 988 000 3 386 000 398 000 13

Grants (b) 344 000 445 922 101 922 30

Sales of goods and services (c) 356 000 577 616 221 616 62

Cash outflows

Supplies and consumables (‘d) (1 450 000) (1 282 306)  167 694 12

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash outflows

Payments for acquisition  
of nonfinancial assets

(‘e) (4 493 000) (280 696) 4 212 304 94

Notes to Statement of Cash Flows variances

(a) The increase in appropriation revenue  operating is primarily due to additional funding received to mitigate the 
continued impact of COVID-19.

(b) The increase in grants income is primarily due to increased private sector funding for conservation activities and 
additional funding received under the Government’s Public Building Maintenance Program.

(c) The increase in sales of goods and services reflects sales driven by stronger than expected local visitor numbers 
during 2020-21.

(d) The decrease in supplies and consumables reflects the capitalising of expenditure relating to the New Visitor Centre 
project and other capital works. 

(e) The decrease in payments for acquisition of nonfinancial assets is due to delay in the commencement of 
construction of the New Visitor Centre.
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NOTE 2: UNDERLYING NET RESULT

Non-operational capital funding is the income from continuing operations relating to funding for capital 
projects. This funding is classified as revenue from continuing operations and included in the Net result 
from continuing operations. However, the corresponding capital expenditure is not included in the 
calculation of the Net result from continuing operations. Accordingly, the Net result from continuing 
operations will portray a position that is better than the true underlying financial result. 

For this reason, the Net result from continuing operations is adjusted to remove the effects of funding for 
capital projects.

Notes 2021
Budget

$

2021
Actual

 $

2020
Actual

$

Net result from continuing operations 2 994 000 3 924 847 2 091 916

Less impact of:

Non-operational capital funding

Appropriation revenue  capital 3.1 4 000 000 4 000 000 2 600 000

Underlying net result from  
continuing operations

(1 006 000) (75 153) (508 084)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT)

NOTE 3: REVENUE 

Income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when an increase in future economic benefits, related 
to an increase in an asset or a decrease of a liability, has arisen that can be measured reliably.

Income is recognised in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers or AASB 
1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, dependent on whether there is a contract with a customer defined by AASB 15.

3.1 Revenue from Government

Appropriations, whether operating or capital, are recognised as revenues in the period in which the RTBG gains control 
of the appropriated funds. Except for any amounts identified as carried forward, control arises in the period of appropriation.

2021
 $

2020
$

Appropriation revenue  operating 3 386 000 2 876 000

Appropriation revenue  capital1 4 000 000 2 600 000

Total 7 386 000 5 476 000

1   Relates to funding for the New Visitor Centre.

3.2 Grants

Grant revenue, where there is a sufficiently specific performance obligation attached, is recognised when the RTBG 
satisfies its performance obligations. The RTBG typically satisfies its performance obligations, and recognises revenue 
associated with those performance obligations, when either project milestones are met or when the associated 
expenditure has been incurred on approved activities.

Grant revenue without a sufficiently specific performance obligation, including donations, sponsorships and bequests, are 
recognised when the RTBG gains control of the asset (typically cash).

2021
 $

2020
$

Public Building Maintenance Program1 250 625 68 337

Private sector grants2 173 461 7 711

Donations, sponsorships and bequests 77 213 115 857

Total 501 299 191 905

1    Funding received as part of the Government’s Tasmanian Support and Stimulus Package for various noncapital  
construction and maintenance works.

2    Private sector grants for 2020 21 primarily relates to funding received to undertake conservation activities.

3.3 Sales of goods and services 

Revenue from sales of goods and services are recognised when the RTBG satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring the promised goods or services to the customer.

2021
 $

2020
$

Sales of goods1 444 543 403 959

Sales of services2 135 648 135 639

Total 580 191 539 598

1   Most sales of goods occur through the Botanical Shop

2   Services include venue hire, tours and events
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3.4 Interest

Interest income includes interest received on bank term deposits. Interest on funds is recognised as it accrued using  
the effective interest method.

2021
 $

2020
$

Interest on term deposits 30 184 74 977

Interest on at call deposits 876 677

Total 31 060 75 654

3.5 Rents received

Rent revenue is recognised when the RTBG gains control of the right to receive the funds.

2021
 $

2020
$

Rents received 64 203 106 474

Total 64 203 106 474

3.6 Contributions received

Volunteer services received free of charge by the RTBG, are recognised as income when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and when the service would have been purchased if they had not been donated. Use of these resources is 
also recognised as an expense.

2021
 $

2020
$

Fair value of volunteer services received1 46 932 …

Total 46 932 …

1   Fair value of volunteer services received through various volunteer programs and groups. Refer to note 5.4  Other expenses.

3.7 Other revenue

Other revenue is recognised when the RTBG gains control of the right to receive the funds.

2021
 $

2020
$

Other 3 735 5 207

Insurance reimbursements … 10 976

Total 3 735 16 183
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT)

NOTE 4: NET GAINS/(LOSSES)

4.1 Net gain/(loss) on nonfinancial assets

Gains or losses from the sale of non-financial assets are recognised when control of the asset has passed to the buyer.

2021
 $

2020
$

Building disposals (13 708) …

Plant and equipment disposals 917 …

Total (12 791) …

4.2 Other gain/(loss) on change in estimate of nonfinancial assets

Key judgement

All non-financial assets are assessed to determine whether any impairment exists. Impairment exists when the 
recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs 
to sell, and value in use. Value in use is based on the current replacement cost where the asset would be replaced if the 
RTBG was deprived of it.

All impairments and write downs are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2021
 $

2020
$

Other gain/(loss) on change in estimate – Write downs1 (4 717) (52 500)

Total (4 717) (52 500)

1   Write downs for 2020-21 and 2019-20 relate to the dismantling and removal of a fernery and two glasshouses.
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NOTE 5: EXPENSES

Expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when a decrease in future economic benefits, 
related to a decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability, has arisen that can be measured reliably.

5.1 Employee benefits

Employee benefits include, where applicable, entitlements to wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave, long service 
leave, superannuation and any other post-employment benefits.

(b) Employee expenses

2021
 $

2020
$

Wages and salaries 1 921 432 1 970 665

Annual leave 168 396 176 083

Long service leave 19 571 95 893

Sick leave 53 870 65 824

Overtime and allowances 113 094 105 592

Superannuation - defined contribution scheme 273 158 275 035

Superannuation - defined benefit scheme 16 972 23 751

Total 2 566 493 2 712 843

Superannuation expenses relating to defined benefit schemes relate to payments into the Public Account. The amount of 
the payment is based on a contribution rate determined by the Treasurer, on the advice of the State Actuary. The current 
contribution is 12.95 per cent (2020: 12.95 per cent) of salary. 

Superannuation expenses relating to defined contribution schemes are paid directly to superannuation funds at a rate 
of 9.5 per cent (2020: 9.5 per cent) of salary. In addition, the RTBG is also required to pay into the Public Account a 
“gap” payment equivalent to 3.45 per cent (2020: 3.45 per cent) of salary in respect of employees who are members of 
contribution schemes.

(b) Remuneration of key management personnel

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the RTBG, directly or indirectly.

Remuneration for the Director is set by the State Service Act 2000. Remuneration for board members is set in accordance 
with the Tasmanian Government Board Fee Policy issued by the Department of Premier and Cabinet. Remuneration and 
other terms of employment are specified in employment contracts.

2020-21 Key management personnel

J Bailey Board Member (ceased 31 March 2021)

A Foley Board Member

B Mathison Board Member (Chair)

P Oxley Board Member

T Taylor Board Member

T Baker Board Member (as Secretary of the Department of Primary Industries,  
Parks, Water and Environment [DPIPWE])1

G Davies Director
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2021 Short-term benefits Long-term benefits Total

Salary2 Other3 Superannuation4 Other5

$ $ $ $ $

J Bailey 3 713 … 358 … 4 071

A Foley 4 900 … 465 … 5 365

B Mathison 19 000 … 1 805 … 20 805

P Oxley 4 900 … 465 … 5 365

T Taylor 4 900 … 465 … 5 365

G Davies 164 292 2 570 21 276 2 824 190 962

Total 201 705 2 570 24 834 2 824 231 933

2019-20 Key management personnel

J Bailey Board Member

A Foley Board Member

B Mathison Board Member (Chair)

P Oxley Board Member

T Taylor Board Member

T Baker Board Member (as Secretary of DPIPWE)1

G Davies Director

2020 Short-term benefits Long-term benefits Total

Salary2 Other3 Superannuation4 Other5

$ $ $ $ $

J Bailey 4 900 … 465 … 5 365

A Foley 4 900 … 465 … 5 365

B Mathison 19 000 … 1 805 … 20 805

P Oxley 4 900 … 465 … 5 365

T Taylor 4 900 … 465 … 5 365

G Davies 161 822 (7 394) 20 941 6 863 182 232

Total 200 422 (7 394) 24 606 6 863 224 497

1    T Baker is on the board as Secretary of DPIPWE. In addition, J Jacobi has performed the duties of a board member in 2020-21, 
and D Poirier in 2019-20, as delegates of the Secretary of DPIPWE. The Secretary of DPIPWE, and his delegates, do not receive 
remuneration from the RTBG.

2    All forms of consideration paid and payable for services rendered and compensated absences during the period.

3    This comprises the movement in annual leave entitlements for the year. Negative amounts represent more leave being taken, in a 
given year, than accrued.

4    Based on the Public Sector Superannuation Reform Act 2016.

5    This comprises the movement in long service leave entitlements for the year. 

(b) Related party transactions

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures requires related party disclosures to ensure that the financial statements contain 
disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility that the RTBG’s financial results may have been affected by the 
existence of related parties and by transactions with such parties. 

This note is not intended to disclose conflicts of interest for which there are administrative procedures in place.

There are no significant related party transactions requiring disclosure in 2020-21.
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5.2 Depreciation and amortisation

All applicable non-financial assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a 
manner which reflects the consumption of their service potential. Land, being an asset with an unlimited useful life, is not 
depreciated. 

Key estimate and judgement

Depreciation is calculated on a straightline basis. The estimated remaining useful lives, residual values and the 
depreciation method is reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period. 

Major depreciation periods are:

• Buildings   25-50 years

• Infrastructure   25-100 years

• Plant, equipment and vehicles 5-10 years

• Right-of-use asset  5 years

Depreciation 2021
$

2020
$

Buildings 228 720 230 211

Infrastructure 251 877 190 458

Plant, equipment and vehicles 18 079 26 468

Right-of-use asset 6 792 4 094

Total 505 468 451 231

5.3 Supplies and consumables

Supplies and consumables are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the goods or services have 
been received.

2021
 $

2020
$

Professional and contract services1 518 388 176 207

Property services 359 848 361 342

General insurance 84 935 74 224

Minor equipment and maintenance 81 045 46 872

Travel and transport 72 587 49 389

Advertising, promotion and marketing 54 122 51 800

Communications and information technology 32 469 30 885

Administrative costs 22 598 11 819

Employee costs 20 476 22 998

Audit fees – financial audit2 13 740 13 740

Other supplies and consumables 66 874 46 384

Total 1 327 082 885 660
1   Increase primarily relates to non-capital works undertaken as part of the Government’s Public Building Maintenance Program.
2    Audit fees paid or payable to the Tasmanian Audit Office for the audit of the RTBG’s financial statements were $13 740  

(2019-20: $13 740).
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5.4 Other expenses

Expenses are recognised when the associated service and supply have been provided.

2021
 $

2020
$

Fair value of volunteer services incurred1 46 932 …

Workers compensation premiums 26 156 24 975

Financial expenses 7 759 7 479

Total 80 847 32 454

NOTE 6: ASSETS 

Assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that the future economic benefits will 
flow to the RTBG and the asset has a cost or value that can be measured reliably.

6.1 Receivables

All payments for goods and services supplied by the RTBG are received by DPIPWE and settled in a monthly elimination 
process between DPIPWE and the RTBG. This process is on an accrual basis and done on the last day of each month so 
RTBG has no outstanding debtors at the end of the financial year.

Accrued revenue is recognised when revenue has been earned by providing a good or service, but either the payment 
has not been received or an invoice has not been raised, for that good or service.

Accrued interest is recognised when interest has been earned but is yet to be received.

2021
$

2020
$

Accrued revenue 67 258 51 778

Accrued interest 9 160 4 938

Total 76 418 56 716

Settled within 12 months 76 418 56 716

Total 76 418 56 716

6.2 Inventories

Inventories held for distribution are valued at cost adjusted, when applicable, for any loss of service potential. Inventories 
acquired for no cost or nominal consideration are valued at current replacement cost. Inventories are recorded using the 
periodic system and are measured using the weighted average cost formula.

2021
$

2020
$

Inventory held for resale 89 974 105 873

Total 89 974 105 873

Consumed within 12 months 89 974 105 873

Total 89 974 105 873

1   Refer to note 3.6 – Contributions received.
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6.3 Property, plant and equipment

(a) Valuation basis

Property, equipment and infrastructure is recorded at fair value less accumulated depreciation. All other non-current 
physical assets, including work in progress, are recorded at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. All assets within a class of assets are measured on the same basis. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The costs of self-constructed assets 
includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working 
condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they 
are located. 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 
items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Fair value is based on the highest and best use of the asset. Unless there is an explicit Government policy to the contrary, 
the highest and best use of an asset is the current purpose for which the asset is being used.

(b) Asset recognition threshold

The asset capitalisation threshold adopted by the RTBG is $10 000, and any other assets where it is considered 
appropriate. Assets valued at less than the threshold amount are typically charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the year of purchase (other than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

(c) Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the item 
if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the RTBG and its costs can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of day to day servicing of property, 
plant and equipment are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(d) Revaluations

All assets, with the exception of plant and equipment and computers are measured on the fair value basis. Fair value 
is determined on the basis of an independent valuation prepared by external valuation experts. The fair values are 
recognised in the financial statements of the entity and are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to ensure that 
the carrying value of land and buildings is not materially different from their fair values. 

The RTBG has adopted a revaluation threshold of $10 000, with assets being revalued every five years. In accordance with 
AASB116 Property, Plant and Equipment, in years between valuations, indices are supplied by qualified valuers to index 
valuations to fair value.

Revaluation increments and decrements arising from recognising land, buildings and infrastructure at their fair values are 
offset against one another within the class of assets. Net revaluation increments in the carrying amounts of land, buildings 
and infrastructure are recognised directly in the asset revaluation reserve, except to the extent that the increment reverses 
a decrement that was previously recognised as an expense in the net profit or loss in respect of the same class of assets, 
in which case the increment is recognised as revenue in net profit or loss. Net revaluation decrements in the carrying 
amounts of land, buildings and infrastructure are recognised as an expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that the 
decrement reverses a previous revaluation increment in respect of the same class of assets credited directly to the asset 
revaluation reserve, in which case the decrement is debited directly to reserve to the extent that a credit exists in respect 
of the same class of assets.

All other non-current physical assets are recorded at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

54 | RTBG | Annual Report Financials 2020/21 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT)

(e) Disposal of non-current assets

Gains or losses from the sale of non-current assets are recognised when control of the assets has passed to the buyer.

(f) Fair value hierarchy

All assets of the RTBG for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the Financial Statements are categorised within the 
following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals:

• Level 1 – represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for 
identical assets and liabilities.

• Level 2 – represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly.

• Level 3 – represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable inputs.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the RTBG has determined classes of assets on the basis of the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of fair value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, the RTBG determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by  
re-assessing categorisation at the end of each reporting period.

There were no transfers of assets between fair value hierarchy levels during the current period.

(a) Carrying amount

2021
$

2020
$

Land at fair value 6 716 243 6 199 800

Total 6 716 243 6 199 800

Buildings at fair value 11 208 015 11 132 483

Less: accumulated depreciation (6 376 602) (6 265 418)

4 831 413 4 867 065

Works in progress (at cost) 533 664 356 984

Total 5 365 077 5 224 049

Plant and equipment at cost 234 978 206 172

Less: accumulated depreciation (119 883) (126 412)

115 095 79 760

Works in progress (at cost) … 49 546

Total 115 095 129 306

Total Property, plant and equipment 12 196 415 11 553 155

Land and buildings were revalued to fair value as at 30 June 2019 by the Office of the Tasmanian Valuer-General (OVG). 
Land and buildings were indexed to fair value as at 30 June 2021, based on indices provided by the OVG of 8.33 per cent 
for land (2019-20: 3.33 per cent) and 3.06 per cent for buildings (2019-20: 1.98 per cent). The resulting changes in asset 
values were taken to the Asset Revaluation Reserve.
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(b) Reconciliation of movements

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the 
current and previous financial year are set out below. Carrying value means the net amount after deducting accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

2021 Land Buildings Plant and 
equipment

Total

$ $ $ $

Carrying value at 1 July 6 199 800 5 224 049 129 306 11 553 155

Additions … 198 967 68 406 267 373

Change in class … 49 546 (49 546) …

Disposals … (15 981) (14 992) (30 973)

Write downs … (4 717) … (4 717)

Revaluation increments (decrements) 516 443 141 933 … 658 376

Depreciation … (228 720) (18 079) (246 799)

Carrying value at 30 June 6 716 243 5 365 077 115 095 12 196 415

Assets at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy

At cost … 533 664 115 095 648 759

Level 3 (specialised) 6 716 243 4 831 413 … 11 547 656

Fair value at 30 June 6 716 243 5 365 077 115 095 12 196 415

2020 Land Buildings Plant and 
equipment

Total

$ $ $ $

Carrying value at 1 July 6 000 000 5 181 836 78 409 11 260 245

Additions … 230 427 77 365 307 792

Write downs … (52 500) … (52 500)

Revaluation increments (decrements) 199 800 94 497 … 294 297

Depreciation … (230 211) (26 468) (256 679)

Carrying value at 30 June 6 199 800 5 224 049 129 306 11 553 155

Assets at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy

At cost … 356 984 129 306 486 290

Level 3 (specialised) 6 199 800 4 867 065 … 11 066 865

Fair value at 30 June 6 199 800 5 224 049 129 306 11 553 155
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6.4 Right-of-use assets

AASB 16 requires the RTBG to recognise a right-of-use asset, where it has control of the underlying asset over the lease 
term. A right-of-use asset is measured at the present value of initial lease liability, adjusted by any lease payments made 
at or before the commencement date and lease incentives, any initial direct costs incurred, and estimated costs of 
dismantling and removing the asset or restoring the site.

The RTBG has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities arising from short-term and low-value 
leases, and rental arrangements for which the Department of Treasury and Finance (Treasury) has substantive substitution 
rights over the assets. Leases expected to cost less than $10 000 are considered low-value, and leases with a term of 
less than 12 months are considered short-term. Substantive substitution rights relate primarily to vehicle leases which are 
managed by the Department of Treasury and Finance.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the assets useful life and the term of the lease. Where the RTBG 
obtains ownership of the underlying leased asset, or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the RTBG will 
exercise a purchase option, the RTBG depreciates the right-of-use asset over its useful life.

2021 Plant and 
equipment

Total

$ $

Carrying value at 1 July 3 071 3 071

Additions 74 424 74 424

Depreciation and amortisation (6 792) (6 792)

Carrying value at 30 June 70 703 70 703

2020 Plant and 
equipment

Total

$ $

Carrying value at 1 July 7 165 7 165

Depreciation and amortisation (4 094) (4 094)

Carrying value at 30 June 3 071 3 071
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6.5 Infrastructure

(a) Carrying amount

2021
$

2020
$

Roads, paths, walls, fences and gates at fair value 4 713 018 4 608 648

Less: accumulated depreciation (2 325 737) (2 227 266)

Total 2 387 281 2 381 382

Utility services and other infrastructure at fair value 1 166 702 1 155 983

Less: accumulated depreciation (810 198) (757 196)

Total 356 504 398 787

Gardens, ponds and water features at fair value 1 861 430 1 832 177

Less: accumulated depreciation (888 526) (814 855)

Total 972 904 1 017 322

Water, sewerage and irrigation services at fair value 1 481 640 1 461 863

Less: accumulated depreciation (823 887) (797 154)

Total 657 753 664 709

Work in progress (at cost) … …

Total Infrastructure 4 374 442 4 462 200

Infrastructure assets were revalued to fair value as at 30 June 2018 by Campbell Palfrey, qualified valuer. Infrastructure 
assets were indexed to fair value as at 30 June 2021, based on an indexation rate provided by the Office of the 
Tasmanian Valuer-General of 3.10 per cent (2019-20: 3.34 per cent,). The resulting changes in asset values were taken to 
the Asset Revaluation Reserve.

Refer to note 6.3 for key estimates and judgements used to measure infrastructure assets.

(b) Reconciliation of movements

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of infrastructure at the beginning and end of the current and previous 
financial year are set out below. Carrying value means the net amount after deducting accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.
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2021 Roads, paths, 
walls, fences 

and gates

Utility services 
and other 

infrastructure

Gardens, 
ponds and wa-

ter features

Water,  
sewerage 

and irrigation 
services 

Total

$ $ $ $ $

Carrying value at 1 July 2 381 384 398 786 1 017 323 664 708 4 462 200

Additions 33 597 … … … 33 597

Revaluation increments  
(decrements)

70 771 10 720 29 252 19 778 130 521

Depreciation (98 471) (53 002) (73 671) (26 733) (251 877)

Carrying value at 30 June 2 387 281 356 504 972 904 657 753 4 374 442

Assets at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy

Level 3 (specialised) 2 387 281 356 504 972 904 657 753 4 373 442

Fair value at 30 June 2 387 281 356 504 972 904 657 753 4 373 442

2020 Roads, paths, 
walls, fences 

and gates

Utility services 
and other 

infrastructure

Gardens, 
ponds and 

water features

Water,  
sewerage 

and irrigation 
services 

Total

$ $ $ $ $

Carrying value at 1 July 2 390 926 423 052 1 032 360 662 099 4 508 437

Revaluation increments (dec-
rements)

76 967 12 889 32 880 21 484 144 220 

Depreciation (86 510) (37 155) (47 918) (18 875) (190 458)

Carrying value at 30 June 2 381 384 398 786 1 017 322 664 708 4 462 200

Assets at fair value by level of the fair value hierarchy

Level 3 (specialised) 2 381 384 398 786 1 017 323 664 708 4 462 200

Fair value at 30 June 2 381 384 398 786 1 017 323 664 708 4 462 200

6.6 Other assets

Other assets consist of prepayments which are recognised when payment has been made in the current year for goods or 
services that will be consumed in future financial years. Prepayments relate to actual transactions that are recorded at cost.

2021
$

2020
$

Prepayments 35 508 36 948

Total 35 508 36 948

Recovered within 12 months 35 508 36 948

Total 35 508 36 948
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NOTE 7: LIABILITIES 

Liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will result from the settlement of a present obligation and the amount at which the 
settlement will take place can be measured reliably.

7.1 Payables

All payments for goods and services received by the RTBG are made by DPIPWE and settled monthly between the two 
organisations. Outstanding payables at the end of financial year are recognised in the RTBG financial statements at 
amortised cost, which due to the short settlement period, equates to face value. Payables comprises goods and services 
received but not yet invoiced. 

2021
$

2020
$

Accrued expenses 104 943 37 868

Total 104 943 37 868

Settled within 12 months 104 943 37 868

Total 104 943 37 868

7.2 Lease liabilities

A lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The discount rate 
used to calculate the present value of the lease liability is the rate implicit in the lease. Where the implicit rate is not known 
and cannot be determined, the Tascorp indicative lending rate including the relevant administration margin is used.

The RTBG has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities arising from short-term leases, rental 
arrangements for which Treasury has substantive substitution rights over the assets and leases for which the underlying 
asset is of low-value. Substantive substitution rights relate primarily to office accommodation. An asset is considered  
low-value when it is expected to cost less than $10 000.

The RTBG has entered into the following leasing arrangements:

2021
$

2020
$

Current

Lease liabilities 14 116 3 178

Non-current

Lease liabilities 56 844 …

Total 70 960 3 178

(b) The following amounts are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income:

2021
$

2020
$

Interest on lease liabilities included in note 5.4 539 77

Net expenses from leasing activities 539 77

(b) Class of right-of-use asset (b) Details of leasing arrangements

Plant and equipment The RTBG leases a Kubota loader through the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. 
This leasing arrangement has a term of five years, with a scheduled end date of 
April 2026. This lease includes a purchase option with a total value of $74 424.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT)

7.3 Employee benefit liabilities

(b) Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are recognised when an employee becomes entitled to receive 
a benefit. Those liabilities expected to be realised within 12 months are measured as the amount expected to be 
paid. Other employee entitlements are measured as the present value of the benefit at 30 June, where the impact of 
discounting is material, and at the amount expected to be paid if discounting is not material.

(b) A liability for long service leave is recognised and is measured as the present value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date.

2021
$

2020
$

Accrued salaries 50 607 45 109

Annual leave 178 488 205 042

Long service leave 498 015 533 622

State Service Accumulated Leave Scheme (SSALS) 1 888 5 504

Total 728 998 789 277

Expected to settle wholly within 12 months 235 061 253 575

Expected to settle wholly after 12 months 493 937 535 702

Total 728 998 789 277

7.4 Other liabilities

Other liabilities consist of revenue received in advance which is recognised when payment has been received for a good 
or service, but where the RTBG has not yet delivered that good or service.

For 2020-21, revenue received in advance primarily relates to reciprocal grant funding received, but unspent at 
30 June 2021. This funding will be recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the RTBG satisfies its 
performance obligations for which the funds were received. The RTBG typically satisfies its performance obligations when 
either project milestones are met or when the associated expenditure has been incurred on approved activities.

2021
$

2020
$

Revenue received in advance 103 709 93 706

Total 103 709 93 706

Settled within 12 months 103 709 93 706

Total 103 709 93 706
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NOTE 8: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

8.1 Schedule of commitments

Commitments represent those contractual arrangements entered into by the RTBG that are not reflected in the Statement 
of Financial Position.

Capital Commitments 

For 2019-20, capital commitments related to a tender awarded for design consultancy services for the New Visitor 
Centre. This tender ceased during 2020-21. For 2020-21, capital commitments related to the purchase of two items of 
equipment which the RTBG had ordered, but not taken delivery of, at 30 June 2021

By maturity 2021
 $

2020
 $

One year or less 92 030 452 333

From one to five years … …

More than five years … …

Total 92 030 452 333

(b) Other Lease Commitments

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position, excluding 
short term leases and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value, which are recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The RTBG’s other lease commitments consist of several motor vehicle leases.

By maturity 2021
 $

2020
 $

One year or less 30 554 29 602

From one to five years 58 261 83 357

More than five years … …

Total 88 815 112 959

8.2 Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position due to uncertainty regarding 
the amount or timing of the underlying claim or obligation. 

The RTBG is currently in the schematic design stage for construction of the New Visitor Centre. The RTBG has received 
$7.6 million in funding for the project which will include the redevelopment of the existing visitor centre, roadworks, 
improved carparking and public amenities. 

As the tender process for the major construction contract was not finalised at 30 June 2021, this component of the 
project has not been recognised in Note 8.1 Schedule of Commitments  Capital commitments.

The RTBG has no other contingent assets or liabilities.
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NOTE 9: RESERVES

9.1 Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets.

2021 $

Balance at beginning of financial year 16 705 523

Revaluation increments (decrements)

Land 516 443

Buildings 141 933

Infrastructure 130 521

Balance at end of financial year 17 494 420

2020 $

Balance at beginning of financial year 16 267 006

Revaluation increments (decrements)

Land 199 800

Buildings 94 497

Infrastructure 144 220

Balance at end of financial year 16 705 523
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NOTE 10: CASH FLOW RECONCILIATION

Cash means notes, coins, any deposits held at call with a bank or financial institution, being short term of three months or 
less and highly liquid. Deposits are recognised at amortised cost, being their face value.

10.1 Cash and cash equivalents

2021
$

2020
$

Short term deposits 7 430 486 3 530 739

Cash at bank 450 115 176 634

Cash on hand 2 900 3 300

Total 7 883 501 3 710 673

10.2 Reconciliation of net result to net cash from operating activities

2021
$

2020
$

Net result 3 924 847 2 091 916

Appropriation receipts  capital (4 000 000) (2 600 000)

Depreciation and amortisation 505 468 451 231

Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets 12 791 …

Other gain/(loss) on change in estimate of nonfinancial assets 4 717 52 500

(Increase) / decrease in Receivables (19 701) (3 117)

(Increase) / decrease in Inventories 15 899 (26 447)

(Increase) / decrease in Other non-financial assets 1 441 (8 993)

Increase / (decrease) in Payables 43 335 4 854

Increase / (decrease) in Employee benefit liabilities (60 279) 37 761

Increase / (decrease) in Other liabilities 10 002 73 264

Net cash from (used by) operating activities 438 520 72 969
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT)

NOTE 11: FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

11.1 Risk exposures

(a) Risk management policies

The RTBG has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

• credit risk;

• liquidity risk; and

• market risk.

The Director has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the RTBG’s risk management framework. 
Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse risks faced by the RTBG, to set appropriate risk limits 
and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.

(b) Credit risk exposures

Credit risk is the financial loss to the RTBG if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. No changes have been made to credit risk policy and methods from the previous year.

Financial Instruments Accounting and strategic policies (including 
recognition criteria, measurement basis and 
credit quality of instrument)

Nature of underlying instrument 
(including significant terms and 
conditions affecting the amount, 
timing and certainty of cash flows)

Receivables All payments for goods and services supplied 
by the RTBG are received by DPIPWE and 
settled in a monthly elimination process 
between DPIPWE and the RTBG. The 
elimination process is on an accrual basis. 
Consequently, the RTBG has no outstanding 
debtors at the end of the financial year.

DPIPWE offers 30-day terms of trade. 

Cash and deposits RTBG cash and deposits are managed through 
investment in short term deposits to allow for 
the greatest return on funds and that they are 
available for operating activities as and when 
required.

Cash means notes, coins, and deposits 
held at call.

There is no expected credit loss in relation to trade receivables due to the elimination basis described above. Historically 
there has been no credit loss in relation to RTBG receivables as all outstanding debts have been recovered by the RTBG.
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(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the RTBG will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The RTBG’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall 
due. No changes have been made to the liquidity risk policy and methods from the previous year

Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

The following tables detail the undiscounted cash flows payable by the RTBG by remaining contractual maturity for its 
financial liabilities. It should be noted that as these are undiscounted, totals may not reconcile to the carrying amounts 
presented in the Statement of Financial Position.

Financial Instruments Accounting and strategic policies (including 
recognition criteria, measurement basis and 
credit quality of instrument)

Nature of underlying instrument 
(including significant terms and 
conditions affecting the amount, 
timing and certainty of cash flows)

Payables The RTBG liquidity risk is managed by the 
investment of cash and deposits in short term 
deposits to ensure funds are available to meet 
creditor terms.

The RTBG settles its accounts within  
30-day terms of trade with the majority 
of its suppliers. 

Lease liabilities The RTBG liquidity risk is managed by the 
investment of cash and deposits in short term 
deposits to ensure funds are available to meet 
lease liability obligations as and when they fall 
due.

The RTBG’s lease liabilities consist 
of a single five-year lease for an item 
of equipment. This lease includes a 
purchase option. The annual lease 
payment is a negligible amount of 
annual expenditure.

2021    1
   year

2
years

3
years

4
years

5
years

5+
years

Undiscounted 
total

Carrying 
Amount

Financial Liabilities

Payables 104 943 … … … … … 104 943 104 943

Lease liabilities 15 961 15 961 15 961 15 961 11 971 … 75 815 70 960

Total 120 904 15 961 15 961 15 961 11 971 … 180 758 175 903

2020    1
   year

2
years

3
years

4
years

5
years

5+
Years

Undiscounted 
total

Carrying 
Amount

Financial Liabilities

Payables 37 868 … … … … … 37 868 37 868

Lease liabilities 3 191 … … … … … 3 191 3 178

Total 41 059 … … … … … 41 059 41 046
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(d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. The primary market risk that the RTBG is exposed to is interest rate risk. No changes have been made to 
the market risk policy and methods from the previous year.

The RTBG exposure to interest rate risk is considered to be low. Minimisation of this risk is achieved by the investment of 
cash and deposits in interest bearing accounts. 

At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the RTBG’s interest bearing financial instruments was:

2021
$

2020
$

Variable rate instruments

Short term deposits 7 430 486 3 530 739

Cash 453 015 179 934

Total 7 883 501 3 710 673

Sensitivity analysis of the RTBG’s exposure to possible changes in interest rates

Changes in the variable rates of 100 basis points at reporting date would have the following effect on the RTBG’s profit or 
loss and equity:

Statement of Comprehensive 
Income

Equity

100 basis 
points  

increase
$

100 basis 
points 

decrease
$

100 basis 
points  

increase
$

100 basis 
points 

decrease
$

30 June 2021

Short term deposits & cash 78 835 (78 835) 78 835 (78 835)

Net sensitivity 78 835 (78 835) 78 835 (78 835)

30 June 2020

Short term deposits & cash 37 106 (37 106) 37 106 (37 106)

Net sensitivity 37 106 (37 106) 37 106 (37 106)

This analysis assumes all other variables remain constant. The analysis was performed on the same basis for the 2019-20 year.

11.2 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

2021
$

2020
$

Financial assets

Financial assets measured at amortised cost 7 959 919 3 767 389

Total 7 959 919 3 767 389

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 175 903 41 046

Total 175 903 41 046
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NOTE 12: EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE DATE

There have been no events subsequent to balance date, which would have a material effect on the RTBG Financial 
Statements as at 30 June 2021.

NOTE 13: OTHER SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND JUDGEMENTS

The following explains the significant accounting policies that have been adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements of the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens (‘RTBG’). The accounting policies have been consistently applied, 
unless otherwise stated.

13.1 Objectives and funding

The RTBG is a State Government statutory organisation, governed by the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens Act 2002 
and is administered by the Department of Primary Industry, Parks, Water and the Environment (DPIPWE). The seven-
member RTBG Board is appointed by, and reports to, the Minister for Parks. The Board is responsible for managing, 
conserving and enhancing the RTBG in accordance with the Act.

The RTBG is Tasmania’s only botanical gardens and is custodian of the state’s botanical collections. In addition to 
responsibility for the management of Tasmania’s botanical collections and associated functions, the Gardens is 
responsible for the development and delivery of horticultural and botanical based community education and learning 
programmes, the provision of visitor facilities and services, the development and delivery of innovative and engaging 
interpretation and information services, and the conservation and presentation of the significant built and cultural 
heritage of the site in accordance with the RTBG Strategic Master Plan 2009-2029.

An annual appropriation is received through DPIPWE, accounting for 86 per cent of the RTBG revenue in 2021 (85 per 
cent in 2020), with the remaining funds being generated through RTBG programs and initiatives.

13.2 Basis of accounting

The Financial Statements are a general purpose financial report and have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Gardens Act 2002, Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and the Treasurer’s Instructions issued under the provisions 
of the Financial Management Act 2016.

The Financial Statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs modified by 
the revaluation of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value basis of 
accounting has been applied. The accounting policies are generally consistent with the previous year.

Compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, as the AAS include requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent 
with IFRS. RTBG is considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under the AAS that do not 
comply with IFRS.

The Financial Statements have been prepared as a going concern. The continued existence of the RTBG in its present 
form, undertaking its current activities, is dependent on Government policy and on continuing appropriations by 
Parliament for the RTBG’s administration and activities.

13.3 Functional and presentation currency

These  Financial Statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the RTBG functional currency.

13.4 Changes in accounting policies

(a) Impact of new and revised Accounting Standards
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In the current year, the RTBG has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting 
period. These include:

• AASB 1059 Service Concession Arrangements: Grantors – This standard prescribes the accounting for a service 
concession arrangement by a grantor that is a public sector entity. Service concession arrangements are contracts 
between an operator and a grantor, where the operator provides public services related to a service concession 
asset on behalf of the grantor for a specified period of time and manages at least some of these services.

Where AASB 1059 applies, the grantor recognises the service concession asset when the grantor obtains control of the 
asset and measures the service concession asset at current replacement cost.

AASB 1059 has not had a financial impact on the current reporting period.

There are no other new or revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
that are relevant to the Royal Tasmanian Botanical Garden’s operations and effective for the current annual reporting 
period.

13.5 Comparative figures

Comparative figures have been adjusted to reflect any changes in accounting policy or the adoption of new standards. 
Where amounts have been reclassified within the Financial Statements, the comparative statements have been restated.

13.6 Rounding

All amounts in the Financial Statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar, unless otherwise stated. As a 
consequence, rounded figures may not add to totals.

13.7 Taxation

The RTBG is exempt from all forms of taxation except fringe benefits tax and goods and services tax (GST).

Revenues and expenses are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the GST is not recoverable from the 
Australian Taxation Office (ATO). Receivables and payables are stated exclusive of GST. The RTBG is grouped for GST 
purposes with DPIPWE. The RTBG Business Activity Statement reporting is managed through DPIPWE. As such, any 
amount recoverable or payable to the ATO is disclosed in the DPIPWE Financial Statements.

In the Statement of Cash Flows, the GST component of cash flows arising from operating and investing activities that is 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is classified as an operating cash flow.

13.8 Judgments and assumptions

In the application of Australian Accounting Standards, the RTBG is required to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 
and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. Judgements made by the RTBG that have 
significant effects on the Financial Statements are disclosed in the relevant notes to the Financial Statements. This 
includes Note 7.3 for Employee benefit liabilities. The RTBG has made no assumptions concerning the future that may 
cause a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period.

13.9 Segment information 

The entity operates principally in one industry segment being the management of all functions particular to the 
operations of a botanic gardens wholly within the State of Tasmania.

13.10 Economic dependency

The RTBG derives its revenue principally from Government funding.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT)
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VISIT US:
Queens Domain, Hobart

www.rtbg.tas.gov.au
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